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Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank
Directors’ Report

The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements of Goldman Sachs Asia Bank
Limited (the “Company”), a restricted licence bank for the year ended 31 December 2024,

Principal activities
The Company is a restricted licence bank under the Banking Ordinance in Hong Kong. It is also a registered

institution under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance and a clearing member of OTC Clearing Hong
Kong Limited.

The Company has been established to provide the clients of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. and / or its
consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, the "Firm") in the Asia excluding Japan region with the opportunity to
transact business with a bank counterparty located in Asia.

The Company's principal activities are to engage in over-the-counter (“OTC"} derivatives and deposit-taking.
These activities are conducted in cooperation with the affiliated companies within the Firm, which give rise to
service fee income and expense.

Results and appropriations

The results of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the statement of comprehensive
income on page 6.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024,
Share capital

Details of the Company's share capital are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements,

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Chairperson and independent non-executive director:
Mr. Martin Kaoru Matsui

Executive director:
Mr. Wing Ho Isaac Wong

Non-executive director:
Mr. James Patrick Houghton

Independent non-executive directors:
Ms. Syaru Shirley Lin
Mr. Patrick Blackwell Paul

There being no provision in the Company’s Articles of Association for retirement by rotation, all current directors
continue in office.



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank
Directors’ Report (continued)

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements and contracts that are significant in relation to
the Company’s business

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company, its affiliated companies, its parent companies or its ultimate parent company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

Directors’ interests in equity and debt securities of the Company or any specified undertaking of the
Company

Directors of the Company, except for the independent non-executive directors, have acquired interests in the
shares of the Company's ultimate parent company, The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., through share-based
compensation arrangements. Pursuant to awards made under these employee incentive plans, all of the directors
of the Company during the year, except for the independent non-executive directors, received common shares in
the Company'’s ultimate parent company.

Except for the above, at no time during the year was the Company, its affiliated companies, its parent companies

or its ultimate parent company a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Management contracts

Except as disclosed in Note 16 (e) and (f), no contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

Permitted indemnity provisions

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that the Company may indemnify any director of the Company
against any liability incurred by the director in relation to the Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil
or criminal, in which judgement is given in the director's favor or in which the director is acquitted or in connection
with any application under certain provisions of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance in which relief is granted to
the director by the court.

Auditor

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the coming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

- T

Director/Martin Kaoru Matsui

23 April 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Member of Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The financial statements of Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited (the “Company™), which are set out
on pages 6 to 37, comprise:
e the balance sheet as at 31 December 2024;
e the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
¢ the notes to the financial statements, comprlsmg material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2024, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by
the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethies for

Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong SAR, China
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Directors’ report and Unaudited disclosure statement, but does not
include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. ;

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
(Continued)

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
tofraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

¢ FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

“Vedaenbo g

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 April 2025



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023

Note Us$'000 Us$'000

Interest income 4 5,207 5,870
Interest expense 4 {(194) {234}
Net interest income 5,013 5,636
Other income 5 6,424 6,559
Total revenue 11,437 12,195
Operating expenses _ 6 (6,258) {6,433)
Profit before income tax 5,179 5,762
Income tax expense 8 (857} (948)
Profit and fotal comprehensive income for the year 4,322 4,814

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
6



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Note US$'000 US$'000
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9 137,038 135,121
Derivative financial instruments 10 13,187 1,556
Other receivables 1" 37,482 21,728
187,707 158,405
Non-current assets
Deferred income tax assets 12 1,297 1,121
Total assets 189,004 159,526
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Deposit from an affiliated customer 16(b) 1,000 1,000
Short-term loans payable 16(c) 2,000 2,000
Derivative financial instruments 10 13,323 1,578
Other payables 14 37,414 25,791
Current income tax liabilities 404 93
54,141 30,462
Non-current liabilities
Other payables 14 4,903 3,426
Total liabilities 59,044 33,888
Equity
Share capital 15 114,010 114,010
Retained profits 15,950 11,628
Total equity 129,960 125,638
Total equity and liabilities 189,004 159,526

The financial statements on pages 6 to 37 were approved by the Board of Directors on 23 April 2025 and were
signed on its behalf.

Director/Martin Kaoru Matsui Diregtor/Patrick Blackwell Paul

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
7



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Retained
Share capital profits Total
Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
2024
At the beginning of the year 114,010 11,628 125,638
Total comprehensive income for the year —_— 4,322 4,322
At the end of the year 114,010 15,950 129,960
2023
At the beginning of the year 114,010 6,814 120,824
Total comprehensive income for the year —_— 4,814 4,814
Atthe end of the year 114,010 11,628 125,638

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
8



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Note us$000 Us$'000
Operating activities
Profit before income tax 5,179 5,762
Adjustments for:
Interest income 4 (5,207) {5,870)
Interest expense 4 194 234
Currency translation 128 (78)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments 114 20
Other receivables (15,800) {21,435)
Other payables 13,077 12,828
Cash used in operations {2,315) (8,539)
Interest received from operating activities 5,253 6,043
Interest paid on operating activities {(171) {260)
Income tax paid {723) —
Net cash inflow/ {outflow) from operating activities 2,044 (2,756)
Increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,044 {(2,7586)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 135,121 137,796
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (127) 81
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 9 137,038 135,121

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
9



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

1

21

General information

Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited (the “Company"}, a restricted licence bank, is a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 12 December 2012, The address of its registered office is 68th Floor,
Cheung Keng Center, 2 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Goldman Sachs Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited. The ultimate
parent company Is The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., which is incorporated in the State of Delaware, U.S.A.
and listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

The Company is a restricted licence bank under the Banking Ordinance in Hong Kong. It is also a
registered institution under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance and a clearing member of
OTC Clearing Hong Kong Limited.

All references to 2024 and 2023 refer to the years ended, or the dates, as the context requires,
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, respectively.

Summary of material accounting policy information

The material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”, which term collectively includes Hong Kong Accounting Standards (*HKASs") and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap.622). They have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain assets or liabilities
measured at fair value or revalued amount as described in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in applying the Company’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

10



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2

21
211

2.2

23

Summary of material accounting policy information (continued)

Basis of preparation {continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

{a}

(b)

New and amended standards adopted by the Company

The amendments to HKAS1 - Presentation of Financial Statements that are effective for the year
ended 31 December 2024 did not have impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are
not expected to significantly affect the current or future perlods.

New standards and amendments not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and amendments to accounting standards have been published
that are not mandatory for 31 December 2024 reporting period and have not been early applied in
preparing these financial statements. These standards and amendments are not expected to have a
material impact on the Company.

Currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates ("the functional currency”). The financial statements
are presented in US dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in currencies other than US dollars are translated into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies
other than US dollars, are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Revenue recognition

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset measured at amortised cost except for financial assets that subsequently become credit-
impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Service fee income from affiliated companies is credited to income on an accrual basis in the period in
which the related services are provided by the Company.

1



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2

24

2.5

Summary of material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation

Taxation for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is then recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current income tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company operates and generates taxable income.
Management pericdically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to
utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and liabilittes and when the deferred income tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the lability
simultaneously.

Employee benefits

(a) Compensation

The Company recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses payable to employees as part of
their compensation. A provision is also made for the estimated liability for annual leave earned by
employees but untaken af the balance sheet date.

(b} Employee incentive plans

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. issues awards in the form of restricted stock units ("RSUs") to the
Company's employees for services rendered to.the Company. The cost of employee services
received in exchange for a share-based award is generally measured based on the grant-date fair
value of the award. Share-based awards that do not require future service (i.e., vested awards,
including awards granted to retirement-eligible employees) are expensed immediately. Share-
based awards that require future service are amortised over the relevant service period. Forfeitures
are recorded when they occur.

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. settles share awards by the delivery of its ordinary shares to the
Company's employees. The Company has entered into a chargeback agreement under which it is
committed to pay to The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. the market value of those shares at the time
of delivery. Further details of the share-based award plans are set out in Note 13,

12



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2

2.5

2.6

2.7

Summary of material accounting policy information {continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

()

Pension obligations

The Company offers a mandatory provident fund scheme and defined contribution pension plans to
employees. Under the pension plans, the Company pays contributions to public or privately
administered funds and will have no further payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The Company's contributions are expensed as incurred and are reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
Investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Financial instruments

(a)

(b)

Recognition and derecognition

The Company's financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised and derecognised using
trade date accounting.

Other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company Financial assets
are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or if
the Company transfers the financial asset and either a) substantially all the risk and rewards of
ownership, or b) neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership and
the Company does not retain control of that financial asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised
only when they are extinguished (i.e., when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or
cancelled or expires).

Classification and measurement - Financial assets
The Company classifies its financial assets into the below categories based on the Company's

business model for managing the asset and, where required, subsequent analysis of cash flow
characteristics on individual financial assets.

13



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2

2.7

Summary of material accounting policy infermation (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

(b)

Classification and measurement - Financial assets (continued)

The business model reflects how the Company manages particular groups of assets in order to
generate future cash flows. Where the business model is to hold the assets to collect contractual
cash flows, the Company subsequently assesses whether the financial asset's cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest. The Company also considers whether the cash
flows represent basic lending arrangements. Where contractual terms infroduce exposure to risk or
volatility inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the financial asset is classified and
measured at falr value through profit or loss. Financial assets with embedded derivative features
are considered in their entirety in the above described assessment.

(i)

(i)

(iif)

Financial assets classified at amortised cost

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows and have cash
flows that represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated
at fair value, are measured at amortised cost. Such financial assets are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial
instrument and of allocating the interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Company
estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial asset but does not
consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other
premiums or discounts.

Financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Such financial assets are measured in the balance sheet at fair value
and subsequent gains or losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets subsequent measurement — Expected credit loss

HKFRS 9 outlines a three-stage model for impairment based on changes in credit quality
since initial recognition of financial assets. The key elements of this approach are outlined
below:

Stage 1 Classification for financial instruments that are not credit-impaired on initial
recognition and remain not credit-impaired as a result of on-going credit risk monitoring.
Expected credit loss ("ECL") is measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months.

14



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2

2.7

Summary of material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments {continued)

{b) Classification and measurement - Financial assets {continued)

(iii)

Financial assets subsequent measurement — Expected credit loss (continued)

Stage 2 Classification for financial instruments where there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initiation, however not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. ECL is
measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis.

Stage 3 Classification for financial instruments that are in default, or are defined as credit-
impaired. ECL is measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis,

ECL is measured on either a 12-month or lifetime basis depending on whether a significant
increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is
considered to be credit-impaired.

Determination of the relevant staging for each financial instrument is dependent on the
definition of ‘significant increase in credit risk’' (stage 1 to stage 2) and the definition of
‘credit-impaired’ {stage 2 to stage 3).

The ECL is determined by projecting the Probability of default, Loss given default and
Exposure at default for each individual exposure. To calculate ECL, these three
components are multiplied fogether and discounted back to the reporting date. The
discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective interest rate.

The assessment of staging and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-looking
information. Credit Risk have identified key ecanomic variables impacting credit risk and
expected credit losses to incorporate into the forward-looking information used.

(c) Classification and measurement - Financial liabilities

(i}

(ii)

Financial liabilities classified at amortised cost

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are initially recognised at fair value net of
transactions costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Financial liabilities classified as held for trading
Financial liabilities classified as held for trading are initially recognised at fair value with
transaction costs expensed in profit or loss. Such financial instruments are carried in the

balance sheet at fair value and all subsequent gains or losses are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.

15



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 Summary of material accounting policy information (continued)

2.7 Financial instruments {continued)

(d)

(e)

Determination of fair value

The fair value of a financiat instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

The Company’s financial instruments consist of OTC derivatives.

OTC derivatives are valued using market transactions and other market evidence, including
market-based inputs to models, calibration to market-clearing transactions, broker or dealer
quotations or other alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency.
Consideration is given to the nature of the quotations (e.g. indicative or executable) and the
relationship of recent market activity to the prices provided from alternative pricing sources.

Where models are used, the selection of a particular model to value an OTC derivative depends on
the contractual terms of and specific risks inherent in the instrument, as well as the availability of
pricing information in the market. The Company generally uses similar models to value similar
instruments. Valuation models require a variety of inputs, such as contractual terms, market prices,
yield curves, discount rates, credit curves, measures of volatility, prepayment rates, loss severity
rates and correlations of such inputs. For OTC derivatives that trade in liquid markets, model
selection does not involve significant management judgement because outputs of models can be
calibrated to market clearing levels.

In circumstances where the Company cannot verify the model value by reference to market
transactions, it is possible that a different valuation model could produce a materially different
estimate of fair value.

Offsetting financial assets and liahilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default, insclvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the
counterparty.

16



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2

2.8

29

2.10

211

Summary of material accounting policy information (continued)
Other receivables

Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less loss allowance. If collection of other receivables is expected in one year
or less {or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Loans payable

Loans payable are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Loans payable are
subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds net of transaction costs and
the redemption value is taken to the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Loans payable which are due to be settled within twelve months of the balance sheet date or where the
Company does not have a right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
balance sheet date are included in current liabilities even though the original term was for a period longer
than twelve months. Other loans payable due to be settled more than twelve months after the balance
sheet date or where the Company has a right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months
after the balance sheet date are included in non-current liabilities.

Other payables

Other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year's
presentation,

17



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

3

3.1

3.2

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the Company and are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are as follows:

Income taxes

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. The Company uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the balance sheet date.

Interest income and interest expense

2024 2023
Us$'000 Us$'000

Interest Income from:
- third party banks 1,641 1,908
- an affiliated bank {Note 16(a)) 3,557 3,954
- an affiliated company {(Note 16(a)) 9 7
5,207 5,870
2024 2023
US$'000 us$'000

Interest expense to:

- an affiliated customer (Note 16{b)) 55 56
- ultimate parent company (Note 16(c}) 68 72
- affiliated companies (Note 16(c))} 71 106
194 234
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5 Other income

Service fee income (Note 16(d))
Gains on foreign exchange contracts (Note 16(d))
Net currency translation losses

6 Operating expenses

Employee compensation and benefits (Note 16(e))
Service fee expense {Note 16(f))

Directors' emoluments {Note 7)

Auditor's remuneration

Others

7 Directors' emoluments

2024 2023
US$'0o00 US$'000
86,226 6,502
213 58
(15) (1)
5,424 6,559
2024 2023
Us$'000 Us$'000
1,852 1,814
3,779 4,042
453 405

111 124

63 48
6,258 6,433

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company disclosed pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Crdinance (Cap. 622) and the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation are set out below:

Aggregate emoluments
- in respect of services as directors of the Company

- in respect of services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company (Note 16(k))
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8 Income tax expense

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023; 16.5%) of the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.

The amount of tax charged to the statement of comprehensive income represents:

2024 2023

Uss$'000 Us$'000

Current income tax 1,027 543
Deferred income tax (Note 12) {171) 405
Adjustments of current tax for prior periods 1 —_
B57 948

The tax on the Company’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the Hong Kong taxation rate due to the following:

2024 2023
Us$'000 US$'000
Profit before income tax 5,179 5,762
Tax calculated at Hong Kong tax rate 855 951
Under-provision in prior periods 1 —
Currency translation losses/{gains) 1 3)
Income tax expense B57 948
9 Cash and cash equivalents
2024 2023
Us$'000 US$'000
Cash at bank 72,038 70,121
Bank deposits
- with an affiliated bank (Note 16(g)) 65,000 65,000
137,038 135,121
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10

11

Derivative financial instruments

The Company engages in OTC derivatives activities and holds positions accordingly.

The following table sets out the Company's derivative financial instruments.

2024 2023
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
us$ooa Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$000
Contracts with an affiliated company
- Foreign exchange contracts (Note16(h)) 17 153 594 23
- Interest rate contracts (Note 16(h)) 3,680 9,490 224 738
Contracts with others
- Foreign exchange contracts — — — 593
- Interest rate contracts 8,490 3,680 738 224
13,187 13,323 1,556 1,578
Other receivables
2024 2023
Us$'000 UsS$'000
Amounts due from affiliated companies {(Note 16(i)) 7.611 571
Amounts due from ultimate parent company (Note 16{i}) 14 —
Amounts due from an affiliated bank {Note 16{i}} 247 293
Amounts due from clearing house 29,610 20,864
37,482 21,728
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12  Deferred income tax assets
The movement of the deferred income tax assets account is as follows:
Employee
incentive plans Tax losses Total
2024 Uss$'000 Uss$'o00 uss$'aoo
At the beginning of the year 1,121 - 1,121
Deferred taxation credited to statement of —
comprehensive income (Note 8) 171 171
Currency translation 5 — 5
At the end of the year 1,297 — 1,297
2023
At the beginning of the year 1,451 77 1,528
Deferred taxation debited to statement of
comprehensive income (Note 8) {328) (77) {405)
Currency translation 2) — {(2)
Af the end of the year 1,121 — 1,121
Deferred income tax asset is recognised for employee incentive plans and tax losses, to the extent that the
realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.
13 Employee incentive plans

The Company's ulimate parent company sponsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman Sachs Amended
and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (2021) (*2021 SIP"), which provides for grants of RSUs and other share-
based awards.

The ultimate parent company grants RSUs to employees of the Company, which are generally valued
based on the closing price of the underlying shares on the date of grant after taking into account a liquidity
discount for any applicable post-vesting and delivery transfer restrictions. The value of the RSUs also
considers the impact of material non-public information, if any, that the ultimate parent company expects to
make available shortly following the grant. RSUs not subject to performance or market conditions generally
vest and underlying shares of common stock are delivered (net of required withholding tax) over a three-
year period.

During 2024, 5,007 RSUs (2023: 5,103 RSUs) were granted to the Company's employees with a weighted
average grant-date fair value of US$358.23 (2023: US$327.72) after liquidity discount due to certain share
transfer restrictions. The amounts due to the ultimate parent company by the Company for the market value
of the underlying shares are included under current and non-current liabilities in Note 14. Refer to related
party transactions in note 16(j).
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14  Other payables

Current liabilities

Amounts due to ultimate parent company {Note 16(j))
Amounts due to affiliated companies (Note 16(j))
Amounts due to clearing house

Accruals and other liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Amounts due to ultimate parent company (Note 16())
Accruals and other liabilities

15  Share capital

Issued and fully paid:
114,010,000 ordinary shares
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2024 2023
US§'000 Us$'000
2,975 3,395
23,260 16,743
5,789 518
5,390 5,134
37,414 25,791
2,812 1,860
2,001 1,666
4,903 3,426
2024 2023
Us$'000 US$'000
114,010 114,010
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Related party transactions

Details of the related party transactions are disclosed as follows:

(2)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
(f)

(@)
(h)

(i)

0

(k}

Interest income from affiliated companies was earned, primarily from cash deposits placed with an
affiliated bank and cash collateral placed with an affiliated company.

The deposit from an afiiliated customer is a time deposit, which is unsecured and interest-bearing at
prevailing market rates.

The Company has unsecured term loans payable to the ultimate parent company and an affiliated
company, which bear interest at a variable margin over the U.S. Federal Reserve’s federal funds rate
or applicable currency's interest rate,

Service fee income from an affiliated company primarily represents charging of expenses, some of
which with mark up, incurred by the Company for engaging in OTC derivative acfivities in cooperation
with the affiliated companies. Gains/ (losses) on foreign exchange contracts from an affiliated company
represents revenue transfers to and from the Company arising from funding activities of foreign
currency in the normal course of business.

Employee compensation and benefits are presented net of recharges to and from affiliated companies
for secondment arrangements between the Company and the affiliated companies.

Service fee expense represents the allocation of costs from an affiliated company in relation to the
support services provided to the Company.

The Company deposits excess cash with an affiliated bank under normal commercial terms.

Derlvative assets and liabilities with an affiliated company arise from transactions that the Company
entered into with an affiliated company in the normal course of business.

Amounts due from affiliated companies primarily comprise interest, service charges, and cash

collateral receivables. Service charges receivables are unsecured and inferest-free. Cash collateral

receivable is interest-bearing at prevailing market rates. Amount due from ultimate parent company

primarily comprise service charges. Service charges receivables are unsecured and interest-free,

ﬁm?(unts due from an affiliated bank comprise interest from cash deposits placed with an affiliated
ank.

Amounts due to the ultimate parent company primarily comprise chargeback of share-based awards
before further recharges te an affiliated company. The balance is unsecured and interest-free. Amounts
due to affiiated companies Include cash collateral payable, which is interest-bearing at prevailing
market rates.

Directors’ emoluments and key management compensation include salaries, bonuses and other
emoluments {including benefits-in-kind), together with the value of any awards of shares in the ultimate
parent company delivered during the year. Key management provide services to the Company and to
an affiliated company. The amounts represent net compensation costs incurred by the Company after
recharges to an affiliated company for the related services rendered. The Company regards its key
management to be those persons who are responsible for oversight of the Company's strategy or
activities and / or those of the Company’s material business lines.

2024 2023
Key management compensation US$'000 Us$'000
Salaries and bonuses 328 343
Employee incentive plans 81 76
409 419
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17.1

Financial risk management

Normal trading activities expose the Company to market, credit and liquidity risk. These risks, described
below, are managed in accordance with established risk management policles and procedures.

The Firm monitors market, credit and liquidity risk on a consistent basis firmwide. Consequently, the
Company, as a part of the global group, adheres to global risk management policies and procedures.

The Company seeks to monitor and control its risk exposure through a risk and control framework
encompassing a variety of separate, but complementary, financlal, credit, operational, compliance, legal
reporting systems, internal controls, management review processes and other mechanisms. In addition, a
number of global, regional and entity committees are responsible for monitoring risk exposures and for
general oversight of the Company's risk management process {“Risk Committees”). These committees
meet regularly and consist of senior members of both the revenue-producing units and departments that are
independent of the revenue-producing units. In addition to these committees, revenue-producing units,
Conflicts Resolution, Controllers, Engineering, Corporate Treasury and certain other corporate functions,
collectively referred as first line of defence, is responsible for its risk-generating activities, as well as for the
design and execution of controls to mitigate such risks. Risk and Compliance functions are considered
second line of defence and provide independent assessment, oversight and challenge of the risks taken by
the first line of defence. Internal Audit is considered third line of defence and is responsible for
independently assessing and validating the effectiveness of key controls. The three lines of defence
structure promotes the accountability of first line risk takers, provides a framework for effective challenge by
the second line and empower independent review from the third line.

Market risk
(a) Overview

Market risk is the risk of an adverse impact to the Company’s earings due to changes in market
conditions. The Company employs a variety of risk measures, each described in the respective
sections below, to monitor market risk. Categories of market risk include the following:

» Interest rate risk: results from exposures to changes in the level, slope and curvature of yield
curves, the volatilities of interest rates, prepayment speeds and credit spreads; and

* Currency rate risk: results from exposures to changes in spot prices, forward prices and
volatilities of currency rates.

Market Risk, which is part of the Firm's second line of defence and reports fo the Firm's chief risk
officer, has primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing market risk by providing
independent oversight and challenge on the Firm's businesses. The Company's framework for
managing company level market risk is consistent with, and is part of the Firm's framework.

Managers in revenue-producing units, Corporate Treasury and Markset Risk discuss market
information, positions and estimated loss scenarios on an ongeing basis. Managers in revenue-
producing units and Corporate Treasury are accountable for managing risk within prescribed limits.
The Company’s process for managing market risk includes:

* Monitoring compliance with established market risk limits and reporting the Company's
exposures;

» Diversifying exposures;

» Controlling position sizes; and
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17  Financial risk management (continued}

17.1 Market risk (continued)

{a)

(b}

()

(d)

(e)

Overview (continued)

« Evaluating mitigants, such as economic hedges in related securities or derivatives.

Market Risk produces risk measures and monitors them against established market risk limits.
These measures reflect an extensive range of scenarios and the results are aggregated at the
product, business and entity levels.

A variety of risk measures are used to estimate the size of potential losses for small, moderate and
more extreme market moves over both short-term and long-term time horizons. Primary risk
measures are Value-at-Risk ("VaR"), and other stress tests. The risk reports detail key risks, drivers
and changes for each desk and business, and are distributed weekly to senior management of both
the revenue-producing units and Market Risk.

Stress testing

Stress testing is performed on a regular basis as part of the Company's routine risk management
processes and to meet the local regulatory requirements. The Company alse conducts tailored
stress tests on an ad hoc basis in response to market developments, where necessary. Stress
testing is conducted jointly with the Company’s risk and finance functions.

Limits

Risk limits are used at various levels to manage the size of the Company’s market exposures.
These limits are set for the Company based on a range of stress tests relevant to the Company’s
exposures, The qualitative disclosures related to the limit approval process are set forth in Note 3 to
the Unaudited Disclosure Statement “Overview of Risk Management”,

Market Risk is responsible for monitoring these limits, and identifying and escalating to senior
management and / or the appropriate risk committee, on a timely basis, instances where limits have
been exceeded (e.g., due to positional changes or changes in market conditions, such as increased
volatilities or changes in correlations). Such instances are remediated by a reduction in the
positions the Company holds and / or a temporary or permanent increase to the limit, if warranted.

Currency risk

The Company’s main currency exposure is to Hong Kong dollar, which is managed by hedging with
an affiliated company.

Interest rate risk
The Company is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk primarily on its deposits and cash
placements. Based on the values of these balances as at 31 December 2024, a 50 basis point

(2023: 50 basis point) change in market interest rates would result in a US$560,000 {2023:
US$588,000) change in annual net interest income.
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17 Financial risk management {continued)

17.2 Credit risk

(@)

(b)

Overview

Credit risk represents the potential for loss due to the default or deterioration in credit quality of a
counterparty {e.g., an OTC derivatives counterpariy or a borrower) or an issuer of securities or other
instruments the Company holds. The Company's exposures to credit risk come mostly from cash and
deposits placed with banks. Credit risk also comes from client transactions in OTC derivatives, and
receivables from customers and counterparties.

Credit Risk, which is part of the Firm's second line of defence and reports to the Firm's chief risk
officer, has primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing credit risk by providing
independent firmwide oversight and challenge across the Firm's businesses.The Company's
framework for managing company level credit risk is consistent with, and is part of the Firm's
framework.

Credit risk management process

The process for managing credit risk includes:

+  Monitoring compliance with established credit risk [imits and reporting the Company's credit
exposures and credit concentrations;

» Assessing the likelihood that a counterparty will default on its payment obligations;

» Measuring the Company's current and potential credit exposure and losses resulting from a
counterparty default;

+ Using credit risk mitigants, including collateral and hedging; and

+ Maximising recovery through active workcut and restructuring of claims.

As part of the risk assessment process, Credit Risk performs credit analyses, which incorporate initial
and ongoing evaluations of the capacity and willingness of a counterparty to meet its financial
obligations. For substantially all of the Company's credit exposures, the core of the process is an
annual counterparty credit evaluation or more frequently if deemed necessary as a resuli of events or
changes in circumstances. Credit Risk determines an internal credit rating for the counterparty by
considering the results of the credit evaluations and assumptions with respect to the nature of and
outlook for the counterparty’s industry and the economic environment. Senior personnel, with
expertise in specific industries, inspect and approve credit reviews and internal credit ratings.

The global credit risk management systems capture credit exposure fo individual counterparties and
on an aggregate basis to counterparties and their subsidiaries. These systems also provide
management with comprehensive information about the aggregate credit risk by product, internal
credit rating, industry, country and region.

Credit concentration risk represents the risk of increased financial loss through significant credit
exposures to the same counterparty or group of related counterparties that failed to perform under
their contractual obligations.
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17 Financial risk management (continued)

17.2 Credit risk {continued)

(b)

()

(d)

Credit risk management process (continued)

The Company's concentrations of credit risk arise from its client facilitation and cash management
activities, and may be impacted by changes in economic, industry or political factors. These activities
expose the Company to many different industries and counterparties, and may also subject the
Company to a concentration of credit risk to a particular counterparty. The Company seeks to mitigate
credit risk by actively monitoring exposures and obtaining collateral from counterparties as deemed
appropriate.

The Company measures and monitors its credit exposure based on amounts owed to the Company
after taking into account risk mitigants that the Company considers when determining credit risk.
Such risk mitigants include netting and collateral arrangements. Netting and coflateral agreements
permit the Company to offset receivables and payables with such counterparties and/or enable the
Company to obtain collateral on an upfront or contingent basis.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s main credit exposures are from cash and deposits placed
with banks of US$137 million (2023: US$135 million) which are primarily located in the United
Kingdom and Hong Kong.

Credit risk measures

Credit risk is measured based on the potential loss in the event of non-payment by a counterparty
using current and potential exposure. For derivatives transactions, current exposure represents the
amount presently owed to the Company after taking into account applicable netting and collateral
arrangements, while potential exposure represents the Company’s estimate of the future exposure
that could arise over the life of a transaction based on market movements within a specified
confidence level. Potential exposure also takes into account netting and collateral arrangements.

Limits

Credit limits are used at various levels to manage the size and nature of the Company's credit
exposures. Limits for industries and countries are based on the Firm’s and Company’s risk appetite
and are designed to allow for regular monitoring, review, escalation and management of credit risk
concentrations. The qualitative disclosures related to the limit approval process are set forth in Note 3
to the Unaudited Disclosure Statement "Overview of Risk Management'.

Credit Risk is responsible for monitoring these limits, and identifying and escalating to senior

management and/or the appropriate risk committee, on a timely basis, instances where limits have
been exceeded. ‘
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17  Financial risk management (continued)

17.2 Credit risk (continued)

(e)

U]

Stress tests

Regular stress tests are used to calculate the credit exposures, including potential concentrations
that would result from applying shocks to counterparty credit ratings or credit risk factors (e.g.,
currency rates, Interest rates, equity prices). These shocks cover a wide range of moderate and more
exireme market movements, including shocks to multiple risk factors, consistent with the occurrence
of a severe market or economic event. In the case of sovereign default, the Company estimate the
direct impact of the default on the Company's sovereign credit exposures, changes to the Company's
credit exposures arising from potential market moves in response to the default, and the impact of
credit market deterioration on corporate borrowers and counterparties that may result from the
sovereign default. Unlike potential exposure, which is calculated within a specified confidence level,
stress testing generally doss not assume a probability of these events occurring.

To supplement these regular stress tests, as described above, tailored stress tests are also
conducted on an ad hoc basis in response to specific events that are deemed significant. The
Company also utilises stress tests to estimate the indirect impact of certain hypothetical events on Iits
country exposures, such as the impact of credit market deterioration on corporate counterparties
along with the shocks to the risk factors described above. The parameters of these shocks vary
based on the scenario reflected in each stress test. Estimated losses produced by the stress tests
are reviewed in order to understand the magnitude, highlight potential loss concentrations, and
assess and seek to mitigate its exposures where necessary.

The Firm's and the Company’s potential credit exposure and stress testing models, and any changes
to such models or assumptions, are independently reviewed, validated and approved by Model Risk.

Credit risk mitigation

To reduce credit exposures on derivatives, the Company may enter into master netting agreements
or similar arrangements (collectively, netting agreements) with counterparties that permit it to offset
receivables and payables with such counterparties. A netting agreement is a contract with a
counterparty that permits net settlement of multiple transactions with that counterparty, including
upaon the exercise of termination rights by a non-defaulting party. Upon exercise of such termination
rights, all transactions governed by the netting agreement are terminated and a net settlement
amount is calculated.

The Company may also reduce credit risk with counterparties by entering into agreements that
enables it to receive and post cash and securities collateral with respect to its derivatives, subject to
the terms of the related credit support agreements or similar arrangements (collectively, credit
support agreements). An enforceable credit support agreement grants the non-defaulting party
exercising termination provisions the right to liquidate collateral and apply the proceeds to any
amounts owed. [n order to assess enforceability of our right to setoff under netting and credit support
agreements, the Company evaluates various factors, including applicable bankruptcy laws, local
statutes and regulatory provisions in the jurisdiction of the parties to the agreement. The collateral it
holds consists primarily of cash.
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17 Financial risk management {continued)

17.2 Credit risk {continued)

()

(9)

(h)

Credit risk mitigation (continued)

The Company's collateral is managed by certain functions within the Company which reviews
exposure calculations, makes margin calls with relevant counterparties, and ensures subsequent
settlement of collateral movements. The Company monitors the fair value of the collateral on a daily
basis to ensure that our credit exposures are appropriately collateralised.

When the Company does not have sufficient visibility into a counterparty's financial strength or when
it believes a counterparty requires suppart from its parent company, the Company may obtain third-
party guarantees of the counterparty’s obligations.

Credit exposure

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include both interest-bearing and non-
interest-bearing deposits. The Company seeks to mitigate the risk of credit loss, by placing
substantially all of its deposits with highly-rated banks.

OTC Derivatives. Derivative instruments are reported at fair value on a gross-by-counterparty basis
in the Company’s financial statements, unless the Company has a current legal right of set-off and
also intends to seitle on a net basis. OTC derivatives are risk-managed using the risk processes,
measures and limits described above.

Other Credit Exposures. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its receivables from
counterparties. These primarily comprise recelvables from related parties and receivables related to
cash collateral paid to counterparties in respect of derivative financial instrument liabilities.

Exposure to credit risk by class

(i} Financial instruments subject to impairment

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The Company's impairment model is based on
changes in credit quality since initial recognition of the relevant assets and incorporates
three stages. See Note 2.7(b){iii) for further information about the Company's impairment
methodology.

The following table discloses the carrying values of financial instruments subject to
impairment recorded in the financial statements:

Financial assets 2024 2023
Us$'000 Us$'000
Cash and cash equivalents 137,038 135,121
Other receivables 37,482 21,728
174,520 156,849
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17  Financial risk management {(continued)
17.2 Credit risk (continued)
(h} Exposure to credit risk by class (continued)
(i) Financial instruments subject to impairment (continued)

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial instruments
subject to impairment assessment and is grouped by credit rating equivalent (internally
determined public rating agency equivalents). The gross carrying amount of financial assets
below also represents the Company's maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets.

2024 2023
Stage 1 Stage 1
Uus$'000 UsS$'000

Credit rating equivalent
AA 15,222 19,426
A 159,280 122,750
BBB 18 14,630
Unrated —_ 43
Gross carrying amount 174,520 156,849
Loss allowance —_ —_
Carrying amount 174,520 156,849

i} Financial instruments not subject to impairment

The following table shows the fair value of financial instruments grouped by credit rating
equivalent (internally determined public rating agency equivalents) and represents the
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account of the value of
collateral obtained or any other credit enhancements.

Credit rating equivalent 2024 2023

UsS$000 US$'000
A 13,187 1,556
Total 13,187 1,556

The Company had no financial assets that were either past due or impaired as at
31 December 2024 {2023: Nil).
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Financial risk management (continued)

17.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unabie to fund itself or meet its liquidity needs in the event
of an entity-specific, broader industry or market liquidity stress events. Accordingly, the Company follows
the Firm's comprehensive and conservative set of liquidity and funding policies. The Company's principal
objective is to be able to fund itself and to enable its core businesses to continue to serve clients and
generate revenues, even under adverse circumstances.

Corporate Treasury is responsible for the Company’s liquidity including developing and executing the
liquidity and funding strategy.

Liquidity Risk, which is part of the Firm's second line of defence and reports to the Firm’s chief risk officer,
has primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing liquidity risk by providing independent
firmwide oversight and challenge and the establishment of stress testing and limits frameworks. The
Company’s framework for managing liquidity risk is consistent with, and is part of the Firm’s framework.

The Company manages liquidity risk according to three principles: (i) hold sufficient excess liquidity to cover
outflows during a stressed period, (i) maintain appropriate Asset-Liability Management and (iii} maintain a
viable Contingency Funding Plan.

+ Excess liquidity. The Company maintains excess liquidity to meet a broad range of potential cash
outflows and collateral needs in a stressed environment. The Company uses liquidity thresholds, limits,
and alerts across relevant liquidity risk types to monitor and manage the size of its liquidity exposure.
The Company also monitors cash-flow projections to anticipate cash flows arising from assets, liabilities,
off-balance sheet exposures, to the extent applicable, over short and long-term time horizons.

« Asset-Liability Management. The Company's liquidity risk management policies are designed to
ensure it has a sufficient amount of financing, even when funding markets experience persistent stress.
The Company manages maturities and diversity of funding across markets, products and counterparties,
and seeks to maintain a diversified funding profile with an appropriate tenor, taking into consideration
the characteristics and liquidity profile of its assets. The Company’s primary sources of funding include
equity capital, deposits and unsecured borrowings. The Company monitors relevant funding thresholds,
to the extent applicable.

+ Contingency Funding Plan. The Company maintains a contingency funding plan to provide a
framework for analysing and responding to a liquidity crisis situation or periods of market stress. The
contingency funding plan ouflines a list of potential risk factors, key reports and metrics that are
reviewed on an ongoing basis to assist in assessing the severity of, and managing through, a liquidity
crisis and/or market dislocation. The contingency funding plan also describes the Company's potential
responses if assessments indicate that the Company has entered a liquidity crisis, which includes pre-
funding for what the Company estimates will be its potential cash and collateral needs, as well as
utilising secondary sources of liquidity. Mitigants and action items to address specific risks which may
arise are also described and assigned to individuals responsible for execution.

Liquidity risk policies are communicated to relevant committees, departments and parties engaged in
assessing, monitoring and managing liquidity risk through oversight and the establishment of stress-testing
and limits frameworks. The Company regularly performs liquidity stress tests to anaiyse the potential impact
of stress on its cash flows, liquidity position, profitability and solvency.
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17.3

Financial risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk {(continued)

The Company’s liquidity risk tolerance is set by the Board and is defined in the Company’s Risk Appetite
Statement (“RAS"). The Company's RAS describes the levels and types of risk the Company is willing to
accept or to avoid, in order to achieve its strategic business objectives, while remaining in compliance with
regulatory requirements. Measuring, monitoring and controlling liquidity risk is an essential part of liquidity
risk management. The Company computes and reviews metrics related to a range of liquidity risk areas
which are distributed to various stakeholders, including relevant committees on a regular basis.

The following table details the undiscounted cash flows of the Company's financial liabilities by remaining
contractual maturity, including interest that will accrue, except for derivatives or where the Company is
obligated to repay the liability before its maturity. Financial instruments are presented at their fair value.

2024
Current liabilities

Deposit from an affiliated customer
Short-term loans payable
Derivative financial instruments
Other payables

Non-current liabilities
Other payables

2023
Current liabilities

Deposit from an affiliated customer
Short-term loans payable
Derivative financial instruments

Other payables

Non-current liabilities
Other payables

More than
three months

More than
one year but

Less than butless than [ess than five
three months one year years Undated Total
us$'coo US$'000 Usg'ooo Us§'000 Ussg'ooo
1,000 —_— -—_ — 1,000
2,000 — — — 2,000
767 2,835 9,960 — 13,662
8,274 103 — 29,051 37,428
— — 4,903 — 4,903
12,041 2,938 14,863 29,051 58,893
More than More than
three months  one year but
Less than butless than less than five
three months one year years Undated Total
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$000 US$'000 Us$'o00
1,000 —_ — — 1,000
2,000 —_ — - 2,000
225 923 1,421 —_ 2,569
10,124 117 -— 15,563 25,804
— — 3,426 -— 3,426
13,349 1,040 4,847 15,563 34,799
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17  Financial risk management (continued)

17.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

{a) Financial assets

The foliowing table shows the Company’s financial assets, and those that are subject to offsetting,

enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements:;

Amounts not offset in the
balance sheet

Net amount
Gross Netting presented in  Counterparty Cash Net
exposure arrangements balance sheet netting collateral amount
Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000  US$'000
2024
Cash and cash
equivalents 137,038 — 137,038 —_ — 137,038
Derivative financial
instruments 13,187 — 13,187 (7,361) {5,809) 17
Other recelvables 37,607 {125) 37,482 — (5,789) 31,693
187,832 {125) 187,707 (7,361) (11,598) 168,748
2023
Cash and cash
equivalents 135,121 —_ 135,121 - — 135121
Derivative financial
instruments 1,556 — 1,558 (471) (1,010) 75
Other receivables 21,784 (56} 21,728 — (519) 21,209
158,461 {56) 158,405 (471) {1,529) 156,405
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17  Financial risk management (continued)
17.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
{b) Financial liabilities

The following table shows the Company’s financial liabilities, and those that are subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements:

Amounts not offset in the
balance sheet

Net amount
presented in
Gross Netting balance Counterparty Cash Net
exposure arrangements sheet netting collateral amount
us$'000 Us$'000 us$'eoo US$'000 Us$'000 Us$ooo
024
Deposit from an affiliated
customer 1,000 —_ 1,000 —_ —_ 1,000
Short-termn loans payable 2,000 — 2,000 - — 2,000
Derivative financial
instruments 13,323 —_ 13,323 (7,361) (5,789) 173
Other payables 42,442 {125) 42,317 — (5,808) 36,508
58,765 {125) 58,640 (7,361) (11,598) 39,681
2023
Deposit from an affiliated
customer 1,000 — 1,000 — — 1,000
Short-term loans payable 2,000 - 2,000 — — 2,000
Derivative financial
instruments 1,578 — 1,578 471) (519) 588
Other payables 28,270 {56} 29,214 — {1,010) 28,204
33,848 (56) 33,792 471 {1,529) 31,792

For the financial assets and liabilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar
arrangements above, each agreement between the Company and the counterparty allows for net
settlement of the relevant financial assets and liabilities when both intend to settle on a net basis.
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Financial risk management {continued)

17.5 Fair value estimation

The tables below show financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels
of fair value hierarchy have been defined as follows:

Level 1 The fair value of financial instruments is based on quoted market prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial
assets and liabilities is the current bid price and ask price, respectively. These instruments are
included in level 1.

Level 2 The fair value of financial instruments is determined by using valuation techniques which maximise

the use of observable market data where it is available. If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in ievel 2.

Level 3 If one or more inputs to valuation techniques are significant and unobservable, the instrument is
included in level 3.

2024
Level 2
US$'000
Financial assefs at fair value
Derivative financial instruments 13,187
Financial liabilities at fair value
Derivative financial instruments 13,323
2023
Level 2
US$'000
Financial assets at fair value
Derivative financial instruments 1,656
Financial liabilities at fair value
Derivative financial instruments 1,578

There were no transfers of financial assets and llabilities between levels of the fair value hierarchy
classifications during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Company's level 2 financial instruments are valued using derivative pricing models such as discounted
cash flow models.

The carrying values of other financial assets and liabilities are a reascnable approximation of their fair
values.
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Financial risk management (continued)

17.6 Capital management

18

The Company's capital is considered to comprise total equity in the balance sheet. The primary objectives
in managing capital are to safeguard the ability of the Company to coniinue as a going concern, and to
meet the capital requirements of the Company’s regulators in Hong Kong.

The Company is regulated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (‘HKMA”) and as such is subject to
minimum capital requirements. The Company’s capital is monitored on an ongoing basis in accordance with
the Company's Capital Management Policy to ensure compliance with these requirements. The Company
must ensure the capital is sufficient to meet the minimum capital adequacy ratio as required by the HKMA.

The Company met the HKMA's capitai adequacy ratio requirements during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

The Company did not pay a dividend or return capital to its shareholders for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 23 April 2025,
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The following information is disclosed for Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited (the “Company”), a restricted licence
bank, as part of the accompanying information to the financial statements to comply with the Banking (Disclosure)
Ruies. The publication of the Company's Unaudited Disclosure Statement is governed by the Company's disclosure
policy, which has been approved by the Board of Directors {the "Board”). The disclosure policy sets out the
governance and internal controls over the publication of the information, to ensure that such information is relevant
and adequate to convey an accurate impression of the Company's state of affairs and risk profile. While the
Unaudited Disclosure Statement is not required to be audited, the document has been subject to independent
review to ensure that the information is not false or misleading in any material respect.

To comply with the Banking (Disclosure) Rules, the Company’s Unaudited Disclosure Statement is published on
the Firm's website as the Company does not maintain a website of its own:

https://mww.goldmansachs.com/disclosures/gsab-disclosuresfinancial-disclosures. html

All references to 2024 and 2023 refer to the years ended, or the dates, as the context requires, 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023, respectively.

1 Corporate governance

The Board and the management of the Company recognise the importance of robust corporate governance
to ensure an environment of effective oversight and strong accountability.

To the extent applicable, the Company has complied with the requirements set out in the guideline CG-1
“Corporate Governance of Locally Incorporated Authorized Institutions” issued by the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority (the "HKMA").

The Company's ultimate parent company is The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (“Group Inc.”). The term the
“Firm” refers to Group Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries collectively.

The information in this Note 1 represents the corporate governance structure of the Company as of 23 April
2025.

1.1 Board of Directors

The Board s responsible for overseeing the establishment of corporate governance policies and procedures
in order to protect the interests of the Company's stakeholders and to ensure the safety and soundness of
the Company's operations and its compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Directors exercise their
independent judgment when managing the Company's business. The Board oversees the implementation of
controls and risk management processes and takes the steps it reasonably believes are necessary to ensure
that a strong and cooperative relationship with regulators exist.

Currently, the Board comprises five members: one executive director, one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive directors.

The directors of the Board collectively possess a broad range of skills, expertise, industry and other
knowledge, and business and other experience useful to the effective oversight of the Company's business.

The Board meets at least once in each quarter. The Board met four times during the year ended 31 December
2024,

1.2 Board-level committees

The Board has established a number of board-level committees, the roles, functions and composition of which
are set out below.
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1 Corporate governance {continued)

1.2 Board-level committees (continued)

(a).

(b)

(c)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is a board-level committee which currently comprises three independent non-
executive directors.

The purposes of the Audit Committee are to:
{i} assistthe Board in its oversight of the Company's internal control systems including:
¢ the integrity of the Company’s financial statements;
« the Company's compliance with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements:
» the Company's external independent auditors’ qualifications, independence, objectivity and
performance;
« the performance of the Company’s Internal Audit function;
¢ the scope and frequency of audit reviews; and
¢ the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting and related infrastructure controls in
light of the Bank’s business plan and growth expectations.

(i) reinforce the work of internal and external auditors, with the responsibilities as set out in the
HKMA Supervisory Policy Manual module headed "IC-2 Internal Audit Function™.

(iii) where not otherwise done on a global basis, recommend for approval to the Board or
shareholders (as applicable) the appointment, retentionfre-appointment, compensation and
termination of appointment of the Company’s external auditors, and to pre-approve all audit,
audit-related, tax and other services, if any, to be provided by the external auditors.

The Audit Committee shall hold regular meetings from time to time as required. The Audit Committee
met three times during the year ended 31 December 2024,

Board-Level Risk Committee

The Board-Level Risk Committee is a board-level committee which currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors.

The Board-Level Risk Committee is responsible, directly or through its subcommittees, for the on-
going monitoring and management of the Company’s (i) market risk, credit risk, operational risk,
liquidity risk, interest rate risk, reputational risk, legal risk and strategic risk; and (i) compliance with
the minimum regulatory capital ratios required under the HKMA requirements.

The Board-Level Risk Committee shall meet on a quarterly basis, although meetings may occur more
or less frequently. The Board-Level Risk Committee met four times during the year ended 31
December 2024,

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is a board-level committee which currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors,

The disclosures about the composition and mandate of the Remuneration Committee are set forth in

Note 24.1(c}) of the Unaudited Disclosure Statement “Design and implementation of the remuneration
system — Remuneration Governance”.
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1 Corporate governance (continued)
1.2 Board-level committees {continued)
(c) Remuneration Committee {continued)

The Remuneration Committee shall hold regular meetings from time to time as required. The
Remuneration Committee met three times during the year ended 31 December 2024,

(d) Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is a board-level committee which currently comprises three independent
non-executive directors.

The Nomination Commitiee is respensible for (i) reviewing candidates for the role of the Chief
Executive, Alternate Chief Executive andfor directors of the Company proposed by the Company's
management and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and/or re-appointment
of the nominated individuals for such positions; and (ii} succession planning for directors, in particular
the chair and the Chief Executive.

The Nomination Committee shall meet on an annual basis, although meetings may occur more
frequently as needed. The Nomination Committee met once during the year ended 31 December
2024.

(e) Culture Committee

The Culture Committee is a board-level committee which currently comprises three non-executive
directors, of whom fwo members are independent.

The Culture Committee is responsible for advising and assisting the Board in discharging its
responsibilities for the Company’s culture-related matters.

The Cuiture Committee shall meet on an annual basis, although meetings may cccur more frequently
as needed. The Culture Committee met once during the year ended 31 December 2024,

1.3 Management-level committees

In addition to the Board and the board-level committees set out above, the Company has established
management-level committees including the Management Committee, Risk Committee, Credit Sub-
committee and Asset and Liability Sub-committee as part of its corporate governance framework. These
committees meet regularly and serve as an important means to facilitate and foster ongoing discussions to
identify, manage and mitigate risks.

The main duties and responsibilities of the management-level committees are described below. In addition to
their duties and responsibilities, all commitiees are also accountable for business standards and practices,
reputational risk management and, where applicable, client service, within the scope of their mission.
(a) Management Committee

The Management Committee oversees all activities of the Company. The committee provides this

oversight directly and through authority delegated to the committees it has established, if any, and
coordinating with other committees and sub-committees of the Company.
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1 Corporate governance (continued)

1.3 Management-level committees (continued)

(a)

(b)

{c)

(d)

Management Committee (continued)

The Management Commitiee is co-chaired by the Chief Executive and the Alternate Chief
Executive(s) and its membership includes senior managers from the revenue-producing divisions
and independent control and support functions. The Management Committee reports to the Board.

Risk Committee

The Risk Committee is responsible, directly or through its sub-committees, for supporting the Chief
Risk Officer, the Board-Level Risk Committee, and the Board in overseeing the on-going monitoring
and management of the Company’s (i) market risk, credit risk, operational risk, liquidity risk, interest
rate risk, reputational risk, legal risk and strategic risk; and (iiy compliance with the minimum
regulatory capital ratios required under the HKMA requirements.

The Risk Committee is chaired by the Chief Risk Officer and its membership includes senior
managers from the revenue-producing divisions and independent control and support functions.

The Risk Committeg reports to the Board and the Board-Level Risk Committee.

Credit Sub-committee

The Credit Sub-committee is responsible for (i) ensuring the Company has an appropriate and
effective credit risk management process, and (i) ongoing monitoring and review of the Company’s

counterparty credit risk exposure.

The Credit Sub-committee is chaired by a senior member from Credit Risk and its membership
includes senior managers from independent control and support functions.

The Credit Sub-committee reports to the Risk Committee.
Asset and Liability Sub-committee {(“ALCO")

The ALCO considers and addresses matters related to the Company's liquidity, funding and asset
liability management. The commitiee reviews and makes recommendations to the Risk Committee
and Corporate Treasury with respect to the Company’s liquidity position and funding activities,
including related models, frameworks and limits. The committee may also recommend fo the Risk
Committee business unit specific asset-liability management frameworks. In addition, the committee
discusses entity and industry-wide initiatives related to liquidity and funding.

The ALCO is co-chaired by the Chief Risk Officer and Treasurer and its membership includes senior
managers from the revenue-producing divisions and independent control and support functions.

The ALCO reports to the Risk Committee, and may report to the Firm's Asia Pacific Asset Liability
Committee, if needed.
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2

Key prudential ratios

The Company is regulated by the HKMA and as such is subject to minimum capital and liquidity requirements.
The Company computes capital ratios in accordance with the Banking (Capital) Rules (the "BCR") of the
Banking Ordinance. in addition, liquidity ratios are computed in accordance with the Banking (Liquidity) Rules
(the “BLR"}) of the Banking Ordinance.

The capital adequacy ratios are measures of regulatory capital to risk-weighted amounts ("RWA"), RWA
represent the sum of the Company's exposure to credit risk, market risk and operational risk calculated in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the BCR. The Company has been exempted by the HKMA under
section 22(1) of the BCR from the calculation of market risk under section 17 of the BCR for 2024,

The Common Equity Tier 1 ("CET1") ratio is defined as CET1 divided by RWA. The Tier 1 capital ratio is
defined as Tier 1 capital divided by RWA. The total capital ratio is defined as total capital divided by RWA.

The leverage ratio ("LR"} is defined as Tier 1 capital to a measure of total exposures, defined as the sum of
on-balance sheet exposures (after certain Tier 1 capital deductions), certain derivative exposures, securities
financing transaction exposures and other off-balance sheet exposures.

The liquidity maintenance ratio ("LMR”) is calculated as the arithmetic mean of the average LMRs of the three
calendar months within the quarter. The average LMR of each calendar month is the figure reported in

" MA(BS)1E Return of Liquidity Position submitted to the HKMA.

The Company is a category 2 institution {not designated as a category 2A institution) under the BLR. Hence,
the liquidity coverage ratio, net stable funding ratio and core funding ratio are not applicable.
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2

Key prudential ratios (continued)

Using the standard template as specified by the HKMA, the details of the Company’s key prudential ratios
and an explanation of material changes in the ratios during the quarterly reporting periods are set out below.

Template KM1: Key prudential ratios

31 December | 30 September 30 June 31 March | 31 December
2024 2024 2024 2024 2023 |Note
Regulatory capital (US$’'000)
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) 128,663 127,940 127,038 125,892 124,517
Teer 1 128,663 127,940 127,038 125,892 124,517
3 Total capital 128,663 127,940 127,038 125,892 124,517
RWA (US$'000)
4 Total RWA [ 49,360 | 48,108 47,687 45,893 45,625
Risk-based regulatory capital ratios (as a percentage of RWA)
CET1 ratio (%) 260.66% 265.94% 266.40% 274.32% 272.91%
Tier 1 ratio (%) 260.66% 265.94% 266.40% 274.32% 272.81%
Total capital ratio (%) 280.68% 265.94% 266.40% 274.32% 272.91%
Additional CET1 huffer requirements (as a percentage of RWA)
8 Capital conservation buffer o o o " o
requirement (%) 2.500% 2.500% 2.500% 2.500% 2.500%
g Countereyclical capital buffer o o .
requirement (%) 0.508% 1.104% 1.064% 1.131% 1.180% ;| (i)
10 Higber loss abserbency requirements
(%) (applicable only to G-SIBs ar D- - - - - -
SIBs)
11 Total Al-gpecific CET1 buffer o
requirements (%) 3.008% 3.604% 3.564% 3.631% 3.680%
12 CET1 available after meeting the Al's o o, o
minimum capital requirements (%) 252.66% 257.94% 258.40% 266.32% 264.91%
Basel Ill leverage ratio
13| Total leverage ratia (LR) exposure 208,715 198,974 | 194,204 179,387 172,281
measure {(US$'000)
14 LR {%} 63.16% 54.30% 65.38% 70.18% 72.28%
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR} / Liquidity Maintenance Ratio (L.LMR}
Applicable to category 1 institution
only:
15 Total high quality liquid assets (HQLA) - - - - -
16 Total net cash outflows - - - - -
17 LCR (%) - - - - -
Applicable to category 2 institution
only:
17a LMR (%} 159.99% 160.03% 160.04% 160.01% 160.03%
Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) / Core Funding Ratio (CFR)
Applicable to category 1 institution
only:
18 Total available stable funding - - - - -
19 Total required stable funding - - - - -
20 NSFR (%) - - - - -
Applicable to category 2A institution
only:
20a CFR (%} - - - - -

{iy The decrease in the countercyclical capital buffer requirement from the previous quarter is mainly due to the
reduction in the countercyclical capital buffer ratio for Hong Kong from 1% to 0.5%.
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3

3.4

Overview of risk management

Effective risk management is critical to our success. Accordingly, the Firm has established an enterprise risk
management framework that employs a comprehensive, integrated approach to risk management and is
designed to enable comprehensive risk management processes through which the Firm identifies, assesses,
monitors and manages the risks we assume in conducting our activities. Our risk management structure is
built around three core components: governance, processes and people.

Governance

Risk management governance starts with the Board, which both directly and through its committees, including
the Board-Level Risk Committee, oversees our approach to managing our risks through the enterprise risk
management framework. The Board is also responsible for the annual review and approval of the Company's
risk appetite statement. The risk appetite statement describes the levels and types of risk the Company is
willing to accept or to avoid, in order to achieve our objectives included in our strategy and business plan,
while remaining in compliance with regulatory requirements. The Board reviews the Company's strategy and
business plan and is ultimately responsible for overseeing and providing direction about the Company's
strategy and risk appetite.

Our first line of defense consists of our revenue-producing units, Controllers, Engineering, Corporate Treasury
and certain other corporate functions. The first line of defense is responsible for its risk-generating activities,
as well as for the design and execution of controls to mitigate such risks.

Our Risk and Compliance functions are considered our second line of defense and provide independent
assessment, oversight and challenge of the risks taken by our first line of defense, as well as lead and
participate in risk committees.

Internal Audit is considered the third line of defence and reports to the Audit Committee of the Board. Internal
Audit includes professionals with a broad range of audit and industry experience, including risk management
expertise. Internal Audit is responsible for independently assessing and validating the effectiveness of key
controls, including those within the risk management framework, and providing timely reporting to the Audit
Committee of the Board, senior management and regulators.

The three lines of defence structure promotes the accountability of first line risk takers, provides a framework
for effective challenge by the second line and empowers independent review from the third line.
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3

3.2

Overview of risk management (continued)

Processes

The Company maintains various processes that are critical components of its risk management framework,
including (a) risk identification and assessment, (b) risk appetite, limits, thresholds and alerts, (¢) control
monitoring and testing, and (d) risk reporting.

(a)

(b)

Risk ldentification and Assessment

The Company believes the identification and assessment of our risks is a critical step in providing the
Board and senior management transparency and insight into the range and materiality of the
Company's risks. The Company has a comprehensive data collection process, including policies and
procedures that require all employees to report and escalate risk events. The approach for risk
identification and assessment is comprehensive across all risk types, is dynamic and forward-looking
to reflect and adapt to our changing risk profile and business environment, leverages subject matter
expertise, and allows for prioritization of the most critical risks. We perform risk assessments
periodically with the aim of ensuring that our material financial and nonfinancial risks are mitigated
through controls to an acceptable tolerance level in accordance with our risk appetite. Our risk
assessments include, among other things, the use of stress testing as well as an assessment of our
internal control processes designed to mitigate such risks,

Firmwide stress testing is an important part of our risk management process. It allows us to quantify
our exposure to tail risks, highlight potential loss concentrations, undertake risk/reward analysis, and
assess and mitigate our risk positions. Firmwide stress tests are performed on a regular basis and
are designed to ensure a comprehensive analysis of our vulnerabilities and idiosyncratic risks
combining financial and nonfinancial risks, including, but not limited to, credit, market, liquidity and
funding, operational and compliance, strategic, systemic and emerging risks into our stress
scenarios. We also perform ad hoc stress tests in anticipation of market events or conditions. Stress
tests are also used to assess capital adequacy as part of our capital planning and stress testing
process.

We maintain a daily discipline of marking substantially all of our inventory to current market levels.
We carry our inventory at fair value, with changes in valuation reflected immediately in our risk
management systems and in net revenues. We do so because we believe this discipline is one of the
most effective tools for assessing and managing risk and that it provides transparent and realistic
insight into our inventory exposures.

Risk Appetite, Limits Thresholds and Alerts setting

We apply risk limits, thresholds and alerts to control and monitor risk across transactions, products,
businesses and markets. The Board, directly or indirectly through its Risk Committee, approves limits,
thresholds and alerts included in our risk appetite statement at firmwide, business and product levels.

Certain limits may be set at levels that will require periodic adjustment, rather than at levels that reflect
our maximum risk appetite. This fosters an ongoing dialogue about risk among our first and second
lines of defense, committees and senior management, as well as rapid escalation of risk-related
matters. Limits are reviewed regularly and amended on a permanent or temporary basis to reflect
changes to our strategic business plan, as well as changing market conditions, business conditions
or risk tolerance. Risks limits are monitored by the respective Risk functions.

The Company's overall risk appetite is established through an assessment of opporiunities relative
to potential loss, and is calibrated to the Company's respective capital, liquidity and earnings
capability. The primary means of evaluating loss-taking capacity is through the Internal Capital
Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP").
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3

Overview of risk management (continued)

3.2 Processes

3.3

(c)

(d)

People

Control Monitoring and Testing

We perform control monitoring and testing to measure the effectiveness of our key controls and to
ensure that we are in compliance with policies, codes of conduct, control standards and regulatory
requirements. Monitoring and testing is performed by dedicated teams within the first and second
lines of defense. These teams establish procedures, develop risk-based annual plans, perform
control testing and escalate identified issues. Issues identified by the dedicated teams, as well as self
identified issues by our employees, are assessed for appropriate escalation and resotution. Where
material or thematic issues exist, we develop a plan to remediate them, as appropriate, and monitor
the remediation activities.

Risk decision-Reporting

Effective rigk reporting depends on our ability to get the right information to the right people at the
right time. Risk reporting is designed to be both forward and backward-looking and consider detailed
information on existing and emerging risk exposures. Risk reporting may include stress testing and
scenario analysis, information about the risk profiles for financial and nonfinancial risks, utilization of
risk limits and thresholds, details of new and emerging risks identified through our risk identification
processes, details of issues, significant internal and external events, and information related to the
effectiveness of our controls and remediation plans. As such, we focus on the rigor and effectiveness
of our rigk systems, with the objective of ensuring that our risk management technology systems
provide us with complete, accurate and timely information. Our risk reporting process is designed to
take into account information about both existing and emerging risks, thereby enabling our risk
committees and senior management to perform their responsibilities with the appropriate level of
insight into risk exposures. :

We make extensive use of risk committees and councils that meet regularly and serve as an important
means to facilitate and foster ongoing discussions to manage and mitigate risks.

We maintain strong and proactive communication about risk and we have a culture of collaboration
in decision making among our first and second lines of defense, committees and senior management.
While our first line of defense is accountable and responsible for management of their risk, we
dedicate extensive resources to our second line of defense in order to reinforce the importance of
having effective oversight and challenge, and a strong culture of escalation and accountability across
all functions.

The Company reinforces a culture of effective risk management, consistent with its risk appetite, in its training
and development programmes, as well as in the way it evaluates performance, and recognises and rewards
pecple. The Company's training and development programmes, including certain sessions led by the most
senior leaders, are focused on the importance of risk management, client relationships and reputational
excellence. As part of the Company's performance review process, the Company assesses reputational
excellence, including how an employee exercises good risk management and reputational judgement, and
adheres to the Company’s code of conduct and compliance policies. The Company’s review and reward
processes are designed to communicate and reinforce to its professionals the iink between behaviour and
how people are recognised, the need to focus on clients and reputation, and the need to always act in
accordance with the highest standards.
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34

3.5

Overview of risk management {continued)
Structure

Ultimate oversight of risk is the responsibility of our Board. The Board oversees risk both directly and through
its committees, including its Risk Committee. We also have a series of committees that generally consist of
senior managers, including from both our first and second lines of defense, with specific risk management
mandates that have oversight or decision-making responsibilities for risk management activities. The key
committees with oversight of the Company’s activities are described in Note 1 of the Unaudited Disclosure
Statement "Corporate governance”,

Linkage between Risk Appetite and Strategy

As a subsidiary of Group Inc., the Company’s strategic decisions are integrated with and follow a similar
process as those of Group Inc., with primary focus in Fixed Income franchise activities in the Asia Pacific
region.

Strategic and business planning define the Company’s long-term goals and the processes for achieving those
goals, which support prioritized decision-making and foster discussion amongst the Firm's leadership on how
to most effectively allocate the Firm's human, capital, and other resources. Risk appetite is an important
consideration and constraint as the firm develops, evaluates, and implements plans in line with its strategic
ambitions. The Firm assesses risk implications of strategic decisions through evaluation of risk management
and control capabilities required to execute within the established appetite.

As we consider entering into activities which are materially different from those in which we have first hand
knowledge, we do so only after conducting a thorough risk assessment which includes an evaluation of our
risk management and control capabilities for the new activity. The Company will not pursue entry into a new
business, market, or geography if we conclude that we have inadequate risk expertise, infrastructure, or other
resources to avoid executing cutside the established appetite.

Our Board provides ultimate oversight of the Firm’s strategy and serves as a resource and sounding board
for senior management. Senior management provides updates to the Board on a regular basis regarding
aspects of the Firm's strategy, risk, and control considerations. The Management Committee conducts an
annual strategy review, during which it reviews the business plans of businesses and control-side divisions,
with input from the Company's senior managers. In addition, the Chief Executive provides updates to the
Board on matters related to the Firm's strategy, including where relevant, recommendations for changes to
the sirategy.
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4 Overview of RWA
The Company uses the Standardized (Credit Risk) Approach (“S8TC"), the Standardized (Market Risk)
Approach (“STM") and the Basic Indicator Approach (“BIA”), as set out in the BCR, to calculate its credit risk,

market risk and operational risk respectively.

Using the standard template as specified by the HKMA, the detailed breakdown of the Company's RWA are
set out below,

Template OV1: Overview of RWA

Minimum capital
RWA requirements
{Note (i)
31 December 30 September 31 December
2024 2024 2024
US$'000 LS5'000 US§'a00
1 Credit risk far non-seeuritization exposures 28,403 27,500 2272
2 Of which STC approach 3 28,403 27,500 2,272
2a Cf which BSC appreach - - -
3 Of which foundation IRB approach - . Tl
4 Of which supervisory slotting criterla approach - _ - - -
5 Of which advanced IRB approach ) - -
B | Counterparty default risk and default fund contributions B854 1,171 68
7 0Of which SA-CCR 588 824 47
7a Of which CEM - - -
8 , Of which IMM(ECR) approach - - B T
9 Of which others 266 247 21
10 CVA risk 29 137 2
1 Equity positions in banking book under the simple risk-weight method and N ) _
internal models method
12 Collective investment scheme {"CI5"} exposures — LTA = - - .
12 — - - :
14 CIS exposures — FBA - N .
14a CIS exposures — combination of approaches - - .
15 { Settlement risk - - -
16 | Securtization exposures In banking book - - i -
17 . Of which SECIRBA e - - -
18 Of which SEC-ERBA {including 1A4) - - -
19| Ofwhich SEC-SA ) - D :
18a Of which SEC-FBA . B o -
20 Market risk - ) - N .
21 Of which STM approach - A -
22 Of which IMM appreach - - -
B o s o s Sock STGbOUK | kgl | Notappleale | niappanie
24 Operational risk 20,074 19,300 1,608
24a Sovereign concentration risk s - - R -
25 Amounts below the thrasholds for deduction {subject to 250% RwW) e o -
26 Capital floor adjustment - - -
26a | Deduction to RWA , - : X
28b Of which portien of regulatory reserve for general banking risks and ) - R o
collective provisions which is not included in Tier 2 Capital
26¢c Of which portion of cumulative fair value gains arising from the revaluation - ; -
of land and buildings which is not included in Tier 2 Capital
27 Totat 49,360 48,108 3,949
(i  The minimum capital requirements are determined by multiplying the Company’s RWAs derived from

the relevant calculation approach by 8%, not the Company’s actual regulatory capital.
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5.1

Composition of regulatory capital

Template CC1: Composition of regulatory capital

The following table sets out the detailed composition of the Company's regulatory capital as at 31 December
2024 using the standard template as specified by the HKMA. Notes (a) to (c) represents the source which is to
he cross-referenced to the corresponding rows in Template CC2,

Amount
{US$'000)

Source based on
reference letters of
the balance sheat

under the regulatory
scope of
consoludatmn

CET1 capltal before regulatory deductions

1 Directly issued qualifying CET1 capital instrurments plus any related share premium 114,010 {a)

2 Retained earnings 15,950 {b

3 Disclosed reserves -

4 Directly Issued capital subject to phase-out arrangements from CET? {only appficable to non-joint Not applicable Not applicable
stock companies)

5 Mincrity interests arising from GET1 capital instrurnents issued by consolidated bank subsidiaries -
and held by third parties (amount allowed in CET1 capital of the consalidation group)

6 129,960

7 Valuatmn adjustments -
[ Goodwill (net of associated deferred tax liabilities) -
9 Other intangible assets (net of associated deferred tax liabilities) -
10 Deferred tax assets (net of associated deferred tax liabilities) 1,297 {c)
11 Cash flow hedge reserve -
12 Excess of total EL amount over total eligible provisions under the IRB approach -
13 Credit-enhancing interest-only strip, and any gain-on-sale and other increase in the CET1 capital -
arising from securitization transactions
14 Gains and losses due to changes in own credit risk on fair valued liabilities -
15 Defined benefit pension fund net assets {net of associated deferred tax liabilities) -
16 Investments in own CET1 capital instruments (if not already netted off paid-in capital on reported -
balance sheet)
17 Reciprocal cross-holdings in CET1 capital instruments -
18 Insignificant LAC investments in CET1 capital instruments issued by financial sector entities that -
are gutside the scope of regulatory consolidation (amount above 10% threshold)
19 Significant LAC investments in CET1 capital instruments issued by financial sector entities that -
are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation (amount above 10% threshold)
20 Mortgage servicing rights {net of asscciated deferred tax liabilities) Mot applicable Not applicable
21 Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences {net of associated deferred tax liabitities) Not applicable Not applicable
22 Amount exceeding the 15% threshold Mot applicable Not applicable
23 of which: significant investments in the ordinary share of financial sector entities Not applicable Not applicable
24 of which: mortgage servicing rights Not applicable Not applicable
25 of which: deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences Not applicable Not applicable
26 National specific regulatory adjustments applied to CET1 capital -
26a Cumulative fair value gains arising from the revaluation of land and buildings {cwn-use and -
investment properties}
26b Regulatory reserve for general banking risks -
28c Securitization exposures specified in a notice given by the MA -
26d Cumulative losses below depreciated cost arising from the institution's holdings of land and -
buildings
268 Capital shortfall of regulated non-bank subsidiaries -
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5 Composition of regulatory capital (continued)

51 Template CC1: Composition of regulatory capital (continued)

Source based on
reference letters of

Amount the balance sheet
(US$'000) under the ragulatory
scope of
consolidation

26f Capital investment in a connected company which is a commercial entity amount above 15% of -

the reporting institution's capital base)
27 Regulatery deductions applied to CET1 capital due to insufficient AT1 capital and Tier 2 capital to -

cover deductions
28 Total regulatory deductions to CET1 capita! 1,287
29 CET1 capital 128,663
e o . L

?fgég AL - PR e G N - g%%, . B %

o) Qualifying AT1 capital instruments plus any refated share premium -
3 of which: classified as equity under applicable accounting standards -
32 of which: classified as liabilities under applicable accounting standards -
33 Capital instruments subject fo phase-ouf arrangements from AT1 capital -
34 AT1 capital instruments issued by consolidated bank subsidiaries and held by third parties -

{amount allowed in AT1 capital of the consolidation group)
35 of which: AT capital instruments issued by subsidiares subject to phase-out arrangerments -
36 AT1 capital before regulatory deductions -

: R T 7
ital: regulatory deductio

37 Investments in own AT1 capital instruments -
k1] Reciprocal cross-holdings in AT capital instruments -
39 Insignificant LAC investments in AT1 capital instruments issued by financial sector entities that -

are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation {amcunt above 10% threshold)
40 Significant LAG investments in AT capital instruments issued by financial sector entities that are -

outside the scope of regulatery consolidation
41 National specific regulatory adjustments applied to AT capital -
42 Regulatory deductions applied to AT capital due to insufficient Tier 2 capital to cover deductions -
43 Total regulatory deductions to AT1 capital -
44 AT1 capital -

45 Tier 1 capital (T1 = CET1 + AT1) 128,663

46 Qualifying Tier 2 capital instruments plus any related share premium -

47 Capital insfruments subject to phase-out arrangements from Tier 2 capital -

48 Tier 2 capital instruments issued by consolidated bank subsidiaries and held by third parties -
{amount allowed in Tier 2 capital of the consolidation group)

49 of which: capital instruments issued by subsidiaries subject o phase-out arangements -

50 Collective provisions and regulatery reserve for general banking risks eligible for inclusion in Tier -
2 capital

51 Tler 2 capital before regulatory deductions -
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5 Composition of regulatory capital (continued)

5.1 Template CC1: Composition of regulatory capital (continued)

Amount
(US$'000)

Source based on
reference letters of
the balance sheet

under the regulatory
scope of

consolidation

(amount above 10% threshold and, where applicable, 5% threshold)

liabilities of, financial sector eatities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidaticn

S e, EIEiY

Tiet 2 capital: ségulatoryidediiction
52 Investments in own Tier 2 capital instruments -
53 Reciprocal cross-holdings in Tier 2 capital instruments and non-capital LAC liabilities -
54 Insignificant LAC investments in Tier 2 capital instruments issued by, and non-capital LAC -

54a Insignificant LAC investments in non-capital LAC liabilities of financial sector entities that are
outside the scope of regulatory consolidation (amount formerly designated for the 5% threshold
but no longer meets the conditions) (for institutions defined as “section 2 institution™ under §2(1)

use and investment properties) eligible for inclusion in Tier 2 capital

of Schedule 4F to BCR only)

55 Significant LAC investments in Tier 2 capital instruments issued by financial sector entities that -
are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation {net of eligible short positions})

552 Significant LAC investments in non-capital LAC liabilities of financial sector entities that are -
outside the scope of regulatory consolidation (net of eligible short positions)

56 National specific regulatory adjustments apgplied to Tier 2 capital -

56a Add back of curnulative fair value gains arising from the revaluvation of land and buildings (own- -

56b Regulatory deductions applied to Tier 2 capital to cover the required deductions faling within

§48(1)(g) of BCR

57 Total requlatory adjustments to Tier 2 capital -
58 Tier 2 capital {T2) -
59 Total regulatory capital (TC = T1 + T2) 128,663
60 Total RWA

49,360

2680.66%
62 Tier 1 capital ratio 2680.66%
63 Total capital ratio 260.66%
64 Institution-specific buffer requirement (capital conservation buffer plus countercyclical 3.008%

capital buffer plus higher loss absorbency requirements)

65 of which: capital conservation buffer requirement 2,500%
66 of which: bank specific countercyclical capital buffer requirement 0.508%
&7 of which: higher loss abserbency requirement -
68 CET1 (as a percentage of RWA) available after meeting minimum capital requirements 252.66%

PR
atiol
Bt Vi

69 National CET1 minimum ratio Nat applicable Not applicable
70 National Tier 1 minimum ratio Nct applicable Not applicable
71 National Total capital minimum ratio Net applicable Not applicable
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5 Composition of regulatory capital (continued)

5.1

Template CC1: Composition of regulatory capital (continued)

Amount
{US$°000)

g el A S R

duction (before sk weighting) g‘@m@” 4

In5|gnlf|cant LAC investments In CET1, AT1 and Tier 2 capital instruments issued by, and non-
capital LAC liabilities of, financial sector entities that are outside the scope of regulatory
consaliclation

Source based on
reference letters of
the balance sheet

under the regulatory
scope of
consolidation

Deferred tax assets arising from ternporary differences (net of associated deferred tax liabilities)
m "‘u

Prowsnons ellglble for in¢lusion in Tier 2 in respect of exposures subject to the BSC appruach or

73 Significant LAC investments in CET1 capital instruments issued by financial sector entities that -

are outside the scope of regulatory consoligation
74 Morigage servicing rights {net of associated deferred tax liabilities) Nat applicable Not applicable
75 Not applicable

Not applicable

AN

the STC approach and SEC-ERBA, SEC-SA and SEC-FBA (prior to application of cap)

77 Cap on inclusion of provisions in Tier 2 under the BSC approach, or the STC approach, and SEC- -
ERBA, SEC-5A and SEC-FBA

78 Provisions eligible for inclusion in Tier 2 in respect of exposures subject to the IRB approach and -
SEC-IRBA {prior to application of cap)

79 -

Cap for inclusion of provisions in Tier 2 under the IRB approach and SEC-IRBA

80

Current capon CETY aaprta.' instruments subjec! o phase-auf arrangements

Not applicable

matunties)

Not appilcable
81 Amount excluded from CET1 due fo cap (excess over cap after redempfions and maturities) Mot applicable Net applicable
52 Current cap on AT1 capital instruments subject to phase-out arrangements -
83 Amount axcluded from AT capifal due to cap (excess over cap sfter redsmpfions and malurnties) -
B84 Current cap on Tier 2 capital instruments subject to phase-ouf arrangements -
85 Amount excluded from Tier 2 capital due to cap (excess over cap after redemplions and -

Notes to the Template:

Description

Hong Kong
basis

(US$'000)

Basel lll basis
(US$000}

10

Deferred tax assets {net of associated deferred tax liabilities)

1,297 -

Explanation

As set out in paragraphs 65 and 87 of the Basel |1l fext issued by the Basel Committee (December 2010), Deferred Tax Assets
("DTAs"™) of the bank to be realized are to be deducted, whereas DTAs which relate to temporary differences may be given limited
recognition in CET1 capital (and hence be excluded from deduction from CET1 capital up to the specified threshold). In Hong Kong,
an Al is required to deduct all DTAs in full, irrespective of their origin, from CET1 capital. Therefore, the amount to be deducted as
reported in row 10 may be greater than that required under Basel lll. The amount reported under the column "Basel |1l basis” in this
box represents the amount reported in row 10 (i.e. the amount reported under the "Hong Kong basis”) adjusted by reducing the
amount of DTAs to be deducted which relate to temporary differences to the extent not in excess of the 10% threshold set for DTAs
arising from temporary differences and the aggregate 15% threshold set for Morigage Servicing Rights (MSRs”), DTAs arising from
temporary differences and significant investments in CET1 capital instruments issued by financial sector entities (excluding those that
are loans, facilities or other credit exposures to connected companies} under Basel Il

Remarks:

The amount of the 10% threshold is calculated based on the amount of CET1 capital determined in accordance with the deduction

methods set out in BCR Schedule 4F, The 15% threshold is referring to paragraph 88 of the Basel lll text issued by the Basel Committee
{December 2010Q) and has no effect to the Hong Kong regime.
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5 Composition of regulatory capital (continued)
5.2 Template CC2: Reconciliation of regulatory capital to balance sheet

The following table shows a reconciliation of amounts in the balance sheet of the Company to the capital
components of regulatory capital.

31 December 2024

nancia statoments | Under | 7088 reference to
rogultory scopeof | Zomeosition of
consolidation (i)

us$’o00
Assets - i . o : .
Cash and cash equivalents 137,038
Derivative financial instruments 13,187
Other receivables 37,482
Deferred income tax assets 1,297 ()]
Total assets 189,004
Liabilities _
Depaosit from an affiliated customer 1,000
Short-term loans payable 2,000
Derivative financial instruments 13,323
Other payables 42317
Current income tax liabilities 404
Total liabilities 59,044
Equity ~ . R -
Share capital 114,010 (@)
Retained profits 15,850 (b
Total equity 129,960
Total equity and liabilities 189,004

(i) There is no difference in scope between the balance sheet and the composition of regulatory capital.
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5 Composition of regulatory capital (continued)

5.3 Table CCA: Main features of regulatory capital instruments

The following table shows the main features of regulatory capital instruments.

31 December 2024

1 lssuer Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited
2 Unigue identifier (e.g. CUSIP, ISIN or Bloomberg identifier for private Not applicatle
placement}
3 Governing law(s) of the instrumeant Hong Kong Law
Regulatory freatment
4 Transitional Basel Il rules Not applicable
] Post-transitional Basel Il rules Common Equity Tier 1
3] Eligible at solo / group / solo and group Solo
7 Instrument type {types to be specified by each jurisdiction) Ordinary Shares {with voting rights}
8 .lr:::::ersﬁir;s:ac;r)\ regulatory capital {currency in millions, as of most USS 114.01 million
] Par value of instrument Not applicable
10 Accounting classification Shareholders' equity
11 Original date of issuance 10,000 shares issued on 12 December 2012
1,000,000 shares issued on 14 January 2015
13,000,000 shares issued on 26 June 2015
100,000,000 shares issued on 12 July 2016
12 Perpetual or dated Perpetual
13 QOriginal maturity date No maturity
14 Issuer call subject to prior supervisory approval No
15 Optional call date, contingent call dates and redemption amount Not applicable
16 Subsequent call dates, if applicable Not applicatle
Coupons / dividends
17 Fixed or floating dividend / coupon Floating
18 Coupon rate and any related index Not applicable
19 Existence of a dividend stopper No
20 Fully discretionary, partially discretionary or mandatory Fully discretionary
21 Existence of step-up or other incentive to redeem No
22 Non-cumulative or cumulative Non-cumulative
23 Convertible or non-convertible Non-convertible
24 If convertible, conversion trigger(s} Not applicable
25 If convertible, fully or partially Not applicable
26 If convertible, conversion rate Not applicable
27 If convertible, mandatory or optional conversion Not applicable
28 If convertible, specify instrument type convertible into Not applicable
29 If convertible, specify issuer of instrument it converts into Not applicable
30 Wirite-down feature No
31 If write-down, write-down trigger(s) Not applicable
32 If write-down, full or partial Not applicable
33 If write-down, permanent or temporary Ned applicable
34 If temporary write-down, description of write-up mechanism Not applicable
35 Positicn in subordination hierarchy in liquidation (specify instrument {ype
immediately senicr to instrument in the insolvency creditor hierarchy of the Not applicable
legal entity concerned).
36 Non-compliant transitioned features No
37 If yes, specify non-compliant features Not applicable
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5.3

6.1

Composition of regulatory capital (continued)
Table CCA: Main features of regulatory capital instruments {continued})
Information relating to the disclosure of the full terms and conditions of the Company's capital instruments

can be viewed on the Firm’s website as the Company does not maintain a website of its own:
hitp://www.goldmansachs.com/disclosures/qsab-disclosures/terms-and-conditions.html

Macroprudential supervisory measures
Template CCyB1: Geographical distribution of credit exposures used in countercyclical capital buffer

The geographical allocation of private sector credit exposures to the various jurisdictions is based on “ultimate
risk basis”. "Ultimate risk basis” means the allocation of exposures to the jurisdictions where the risk ultimately
lies, as defined as the location where the “ultimate obligor” resides.

The geographical distribution of private sector credit exposures that are relevant in the calculation of CCyB
ratio is set out below.

31 December 2024

Sﬁgﬁaﬂ‘;"&" Applicable JCCyB cﬁg:u;‘:t?gﬂf Al-specific CCyB amount | Note
Jurisdiction (J) ratio in effect {%) CCyB ratio (US$'000) CCyB ratio (%) (US$°000)

1 | Hong Kong, China 0.500% 1,733 R

2 | United Kingdom 2.000% 24

3 | Sum 1,757 IR

—
s

The increase in RWA used in the computation of CCyB ratio from the previous semi-annual reporting
period is mainly due to the increase in the central counterparties exposure.
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7 Leverage ratio

7.1 Template LR1: Summary comparison of accounting assets against leverage ratio (“LR”) exposure
measure

The leverage ratio is calculated in accordance with the relevant provisions of the BCR.

31 December 2024

ftem Value under the LR
framework
(US$'000 equivalent)
Total consolidated assets as per published financial statements 189,004
2 Adjustment for investments in banking, financial, insurance or commercial entities that are

consolidated for accounting purposes but outside the scope of regulatory consolidation

2a Adjustment for securitised exposures that meet the operational requirements for the
recognition of risk transference

3 Adjustment for fiduciary assets recognised on the balance sheet pursuant to the applicable -
accounting standard but excluded from the LR exposure measure

3a Adjustments for eligible cash pooling transactions -
Adjustments for derivative contracts 16,008

5 Adjustment for SFTs (i.e. repos and similar secured lending) -

Adjustment for off-balance sheet (*OBS") items (i.e. conversion to credit equivalent amounts -
of OBS exposures)

‘ Ba Adjustments for prudent valuation adjustments and specific and collective provisions that are -
allowed to be excluded from exposure meastire

Other adjustments ' (1,297)
Leverage ratio exposure measure 203,715
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7 Leverage ratio (continued)

7.2 Template LR2: Leverage ratio
31 December 2024

US$'000 equivalent
31 December | 30 September
2024 2024

On-balance sheet exposures

1 On-balance sheet exposures (excluding those arising from derivative contracts and 175,834 170,337
SFTs, but including collateral)

2 Less: Asset amounts deducted in determining Tier 1 capital {1,297) (1.022)

3 Total on-balance sheet exposures {(excluding derivative contracts and SFTs) 174,537 169,315

Exposures arising from derivative contracts

4 Replacement cost associated with all derivative contracts (where applicable net of 26,854 26,477
eligible cash variation margin andfor with bilateral netting)

5 Add-on amounts for PFE associated with all derivative contracts 2,324 3,182
Gross-up for collateral provided in respect of derivative contracts where deducted from - -
the balance sheet assets pursuant to the applicable accounting framework

7 Less: Deductions of receivables assets for cash variation margin provided under - -
derivative contracts

8 Less: Exempted CCP leg of client-cleared trade exposures - -

9 Adjusted effective notional amount of written credit-related derivative contracts - -

10 Less: Adjusted effective notional offsets and add-on deductions for written credit-related - -
derivative contracts

11 Total exposures arising from derivative contracts 29,178 29,659

Exposures arising from SFTs

12 Gross SFT assets {with no recognition of netting), after adjusting for sale accounting - -
transactions

13 Less: Netted amounts of cash payables and cash receivables of gross SFT assets - -

14 CCR exposure for SFT assets - -

15 Agent transaction exposures - -

16 Total exposures arising from SFTs - -

Other off-balance sheet exposures

17 Off-balance sheet exposure at gross notional amount - N

18 Less: Adjustments for conversion to credit equivalent amounts - -

19 Off-balance sheet items - -

Capital and total exposures

20 Tier 1 capital 128,663 127,840

20a | Total exposures before adjustments for specific and collective provisions 203,716 198,974

20b | Adjustments for specific and collective provisions - -

21 Total exposures after adjustments for specific and collective provisions 203,716 198,974

Leverage ratio

22 Leverage ratio 63.16% 64.30%
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8

8.1

8.2 Template LI2: Main sources of differences bhetween

Linkages between financial statements and regulatory exposures

Template LI1: Differences between accounting and regulatory scopes of consolidation and
mapping of financial statement categories with regulatory risk categories

31 December 2024

. Carrying values of items:
\gireys:r;gs Carlw ing not subject to
B values . subject to ! subject to capital
r;s;'};iig‘ under scope 2[‘:':31?;6:]';; counterparty Z:Zﬁ?t}zt:ﬁtgﬁ market requirements
financial of regulatory framework credit risk framewark risk or subject to
statements consolidation framework framework | deduction from
capital
ussooo US$'000 US$'000 US5'000 Uss'o0o US$'000 US$'000
Asmets N AR SR I T
Cash an equivalents 137,038 | 137,038 | - - - -
Derivative cial instruments 13,187 17 13,170 - -l -
Other receivables 37,482 2,083 35,389 - -
Deferred income tax assets o297 | 1297 i
Total assets 183,004 139,138
Ulabiliies 7T
Depaosit from an affiliated _
customer
Other payables ,
Current income tax | -
Total liabiiities -

values in financial statements

31 December 2024

regulatory exposures amounts and carrying

ltems subject to:
Total credit risk securitization Cglrjg éirﬁ:;:y market risk
framework framework framework framework
Uss'000 Uss'000 Us$'ooo us$'oo0 US$'ooo
1 Asset carrying value amount under scope of
regulatory consolidation (as per template 187,707 139,138 - 48,569 -
) _ —
2 Liabilities carrying value amount under
regulatory scope of consolidation {as per 36,272 - - 36,272 -
template LI1) o o
3 Total net amount under regulatory scope of ;

_ | consclidation 151.435 139,138 12,297 -

4 O ce sheet amounts - - . - -

5 | Differences due to repiacement cost of
derivatives o o ________1_9_'133 T B } 19,182 B
5] Differences due to potential future exposures of

________ derivatives [anill DT R e —
7 Difference due to scalar applied for derivatives 8,075 - - 8,075 -
8 | Exposure amounts considered for - e T e | .
regulatory purposes 179,699 139,138 - 40,561 -
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8

8.2

10

Linkages between financial statements and regulatory exposures (continued)

Template LI2: Main sources of differences between regulatory exposures amounts and carrying
values in financial statements (continued)

The below outlines the main drivers for the differences between regulatory exposure amounts and accounting

carrying values under the regulatory scope of consolidation:

(i) Exposure amounts are calculated after taking into account recognized collateral received or posted.

(i) Counterparty credit risk exposures for regulatory purposes consist of both the current exposures and the
potential future exposures, where potential future exposures are not considered in the accounting
carrying values.

(i) A scalar factor of 1.4 is applied to exposures of derivatives under the standardized approach for
measuring counterparty credit risk.

There were no valuation adjustments for all assets measures at fair value, including non-derivative and
derivative instruments as at 31 December 2024.

Liquidity risk management

The following table shows the Company's on-balance sheet items by remaining contractual maturity and the
resultant liquidity gaps as at 31 December 2024 based on the reported numbers under MA(BS)23 Return of
Liguidity Monitoring Tools.

There were no off-balance sheet items as at 31 December 2024, other than derivative transactions covered
below.

The qualitative disclosures related to liquidity risk management are set forth in Note 17.3 to the financial
statements “Financial risk management — Liquidity risk.”

Mare than Mare than Maore than
one month thrae one year
but less months but but less
Within ane than three {ess than than five Over five
On demand month months one year years years Undated Total
US$000 US§'000 US§'000 Uss§'oco USS'000 Uss'o00 US$'000 US$'000
Amount receivable arising
from derivative contracts W"MMA o 4 ,,,,,,,,,Ei‘i ?'834 9,560 T o 13,425
Due from banks 72,285 - 65,000 =1 - - - 137,285
Cther assets_ ] 28| 2319 - o B0 s 95,399 | 38,556
Total on-balance sheet 72,328 2323 65,613 2,834 10,769 - 35,399 189,266
assets e B
Deposits from non-bank | | 1 T
custorners ; 4 1,000 ) . T ) 1,004
Amount payable arising from
derivative contracts ! 1 613 2834 | 9,960 - - 13,409
8,248 2002 | 507 48031 - | 209903 | 44,893
- u T o et s [0 129,960 129,960
labllitles 1 8,253 o m3643 3,341_“ 14,863 : | 158,163 189,266
"Gontractual Maturity o
Mismatch = 72827 | (5830) ( 61988 | {8OT) | (4094) ( -
Cumulative Contractual
Maturity Mismatch 72,327 66,397 128,365 127,858 123,674 123,764

Credit risk for non-securitization exposures

Using the standard templates as specified by the HKMA, the following sub-sections and templates provide
detailed information relating to credit risk for non-securitization exposures under the STC approach.

There were no loans or debt securities or related off-balance sheet exposures as at 31 December 2024.
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10.1

10.2

10.3

104

Credit risk for non-securitization exposures (continued)

General information about credit risk

The general information about credit risk is set forth in Note 17.2 to the financial statements “Financial risk

management — Credit risk."

Qualitative disclosures related to credit risk mitigation (“CRM")

The qualitative disclosures related to credit risk mitigation are set forth in Note 17.2 to the financial statements
*Financial risk management — Credit risk.”

Qualitative disclosures on use of ECAI ratings under STC approach

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Company has nominated Standard & Poor's Rating
Services, Moody's Investors Service and Fitch Ratings as the external credit assessment institutions
("ECAIs") used to determine the risk-weights of exposures subject to the STC approach. The exposure
classes for which the ECAls are used include sovereign, public sector entity, bank, securities firm, corporate
and collective investment scheme exposures. For risk-weighting purpose, the Company will use certain credit
ratings among the three ECAls which will result in the highest risk-weights according to the requirements of

the BCR.

Template CR4: Credit risk exposures and effects of recognized credit risk mitigation — for STC

approach

31 December 2024

Exposures pre-CCF and pre-
CRM

Exposures post-CCF and

RWA and RWA density

post-CRM
Exposure classes shaet amount | shaot amount | sheot amount | shestamount | FVA | dony
US$'000 usS$'oco Us$'o00 usS$'000 us$'coo %
1 Sovereign exposures - - - - - -
2 | PSEexposures - - - - - -
23 __ Ofwhich: domestic PSEs - - - - N
2b Of which: foreign PSEs - - - - - -
3 B 'E\.'-I-L_:-I.t_il_ateral development bank _ _ ; o m_ ; . _
.| EXPosUres .. e e AR
4 | Bankexposures 137,285 . 137,285 - 27,457 20
5 | Securiies firm exposures 1,934 B - et s
6 | Corporate exposures 31 . 28 . 100
;1 Ge exposures e | - - - - - S
8 Cashitems 17 - 17 - - -
9 ) 'Ekpdsuré"s i-;\mr'ésp-ect of-failed o - - ‘ 7
delivery on transactions entered B B . . . _
into on a basis other than a
.| delivery-versus-payment basis - . .
10 | Regulatory retail exposures - - - - - -
11 | Residential mortgage loans - - - - - -
12 | Otherexposures whicharenot | | - ) ) ) o
past due exposures
13 | Pastdue exposures | - I - .
vy Slgnlﬂcant;xposuresto - - - -
commercial entities
45 | Toml ©qas2e7 | - tasass!l . ‘28403 | 20
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Credit risk for non-securitization exposures (continued)

10.5 Template CR5: Credit risk exposures by asset classes and by risk weights — for STC approach

31 December 2024

Risk
weight

Exposure
class

0%

10%

20%

35%

50%

75%

100%

180%

250%

Others

Total credit risk
exposuras amount
{post CCF and past
CRM)

USS'000

UsS$'oo0

Uss'o00

US$'000

US§'000

UsSs'o00

USs'000

UsSs'c00

USs$'000

LU58'000

Seovereign
BXposures

PSE exposures

2a

Of which:
domestic PSEs

2b

Of which: foreign
PSEs

Multilatera!
development
bank exposures

Bank exposures

137,285

Securities firm
exposures

Corporate
exposures

137,285

1,808

28

CiS exposures

Cash items

Exposures in
respect cf failed
delivery on
transactions
entered into on a
basis other than a
delivery-versus-
payment basis

10

Regulatory retail
exposures

11

Residential
mortgage loans

12

Other exposures
which are not past
due exposures

13

Past due
exposures

14

Significant
exposures to
commercial
entities

15

Totat

17

137,285

1,780

139,138
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11.1

Counterparty credit risk

There were no credit-related derivative contracts or exposures to central counterparties as at 31 December

2024,

Qualitative disclosures related to counterparty credit risk

The risk management objectives and policies, and method for setting operating limits related to counterparty
credit risk are set forth in Note 17.2 to the financial statements “Financial risk management — Credit risk."

(a)

(b}

Credit risk mitigation and assessments concerning counterparty credit risk

To reduce our credit exposures on derivatives, the Company may enter info master netting
agreements or similar arrangements (collectively, netting agreements) with counterparties that permit
it to offset receivables and payables with such counterparties. The Company may also reduce credit
risk with counterparties by entering into agreements that enable it to obtain collateral from them on
an upfront or contingent basis and/or to terminate transactions if the counterparty's credit rating falls
below a specified level. The Company monitors the fair value of the collateral on a daily basis to
ensure that its credit exposures are appropriately collateralised. The Company seeks to minimise
exposures where there is a significant positive correlation between the creditworthiness of our
counterparties and the market value of collateral received.

When the Company does not have sufficient visibility into a counterparty’s financial strength or when
it believes a counterparty requires support from its parent, the Company may obtain third-party
guarantees of the counterparty’s obligations. The Company may also mitigate its credit risk using
credit derivatives or participation agreements.

As part of the risk assessment process, Credit Risk performs credit reviews, which include initial and
ongoing analyses of our counterparties. A credit review is an independent analysis of the capacity
and willingness of a counterparty to meet its financial obligations, resulting in an internal credit rating.
The determination of internal credit ratings also incorporates assumptions with respect to the nature
of and outlook for the counterparty's industry, and the economic environment. Senior personnel within
Credit Risk, with expertise in specific industries, inspect and approve credit reviews and internal credit
ratings,

Wrong-way risk

The Company seeks to minimise risk where there is a significant positive correlation between the
probability of default of a counterparty and our exposure to that counterparty (net of the market value
of any collateral we receive), which is known as “wrong-way risk”. Wrong-way risk is commonly
categorised into two types: specific wrong-way risk and general wrong-way risk. The Company
categorises exposure as specific wrong-way risk when our counterparty and the issuer of the
reference asset of the transaction are the same entity or are affiliates, or if the collateral supporting
a transaction is issued by the counterparty or its affiliates. General wrong-way risk arises when there
i$ a significant positive correlation between the probability of default of a counterparty and general
market risk factors affecting the exposure to that counterparty. The Company has procedures in place
to actively identify, monitor and control specific and general wrong-way risk, beginning at the
inception of a fransaction and continuing through its life, including assessing the level of risk through
stress tests. The Company ensures that material wrong-way risk is mitigated using collateral
agreements or increases to initial margin, where appropriate.
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1.1

Qualitative disclosures related to counterparty credit risk (continued)

Collateral requirements arising from derivatives the Company has transacted under bilateral agreements with
counterparties are not linked to changes in the Company’s or Firm's credit rating.

Using the standard templates as specified by the HKMA, the following tables provide detailed information
relating to counterparty credit risk and credit valuation adjustment ("CVA”) arising from derivative contracts.

11.2 Template CCR1: Analysis of counterparty default risk exposures {other than those to CCPs) by
approaches

31 December 2024

11.3 Template CCR2: CVA capital charge

Alpha (a)
. used for Default risk
Ri[;gc&née)nt PFE Eflech’:gve computing | exposure after RWA Note
default risk CRM
exposure
Us$’000 US$'000 Usg'oo0 Uss$000 US$'000
1 SA-CCR approach (for - 34 1.4 48 24 0]
derivative contracts)
ia | CEM {for derivative - - 1.4 - -
contracts)
IMM {CCR} approach - - - -
3 Simple Approach {for - -
SFTs)
4 Comprehensive - -
Approach (for SFTs)
VaR (for SFTs} - -
Total 24
(Y RWA calculated under the SA-CCR approach decreased from the previous semi-annual reporting period

mainly due to the maturity of foreign exchange derivative trades.

31 December 2024

EAD post CRM RWA Note
US$'000 USg'oo0
Netting sets for which CVA capital charge is calculated by the advanced - -
CVA method
1 (i} VaR (after application of multiplication factor if applicable} -
2 | {ii) Stressed VaR (after application of multiplication factor if applicable) -
3 Netting sets for which CVA capital charge is calculated by the standardized 48 29 (i)
CVA method
4 | Total 48 29
{) CVA capital charge decreased from the previous semi-annual reporting period mainly due to the maturity

of foreign exchange derivative trades.
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1.4

Counterparty credit risk (continued)

Template CCR3: Counterparty default risk exposures (other than those to CCPs) by asset classes and
by risk weights — for STC approach

31 December 2024

Risk
weight
qual
0% | 0% 20% | asw | 0w | 75% | 100% | 450% | 250% | otners if::;‘uﬁg'; Nola
after CRM
Exposure
class
LISS000 | USS'060 | USS'eoo | USS'000 | USS000 | USS'000 | USS'000 | USS'0D0 | USS'0OC | USS'COO US$'000
1 Sovereign exposures - - - - - - - - - - .
2 PSE exposures - - B - - - - . N .
za OF which: domestic - - . . . I _ _ X
PSEs
2b Of which: foreign - - - - - - - - - .
PSEs
3 Multitateral - - - - - - - - . . -
development bank
exposures
4 Bank exposures - - - - - - - - - -
& | Securities firm - . N N 48 - N - 1" - s __._aiw
exposures
8 Comporate exposures - - - - - - T - - Y _(iT
7 CIS exposures - - - - - - T N N T -
;! Regutatory retail - A - - - - - B I 1T
exposures
g Residential mortgage - - - - - - - - - - -
loans
10 | Other exposures which - - - - - - - - - -
are not past due
exposures
11 | Significant exposures - - - - - . - - . _
o commercial entities
i2 [ Total - - - - 48 - - - - - 48
(i) The decrease in securities firm counterparty default risk exposures from the previous semi-annual

reporting period is mainly due to the maturity of foreign exchange derivative trades.
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11 Counterparty credit risk (continued)

11.5 Template CCR5: Composition of collateral for counterparty default risk exposures (including those
for contracts or transactions cleared through CCPs)

31 December 2024

Derivative contracts SFTs
Fair value of recognized . Fair value of -
coliateral received Fair value of posted collateral racagnized Fal‘; :gt,g of Note
collateral
Segregated | Unsegregated | Segregated | Unsegregated received collateral

Uss'o00 US$000 usg'ooc USs$'000 Us§oon US$'000
Cash - domestic currency - - - . - -
Gash - other currencies - 21,253 24,950 - -
Total - 21,253 - 24,950 - - (i}

(i) The movement in cash collateral received and placed from the previous semi-annual reporting period is
mainly due to the increase in margin placement with the clearing house,

11.6 Template CCR8: Exposures to CCPs

31 December 2024

EAD post CRM RWA
US§'000 Us$'o00
1 Exposures of the Al as clearing member or client to qualifying 230
CCPs (total}
2 pefault risk exposures to qualifying CCPs (excluding items disclosed 28,216 564
in rows 7 to 10), of which:
3 | (i} OTC derivative transactions 28,216 564
4 | (i} Exchange-traded derivative contracts - -
5 | (i) Securities financing transactions - -
6 | {iv) Netting sets subject to valid cross-product netting agreements - -
7 | Segregated initial margin -
8 | Unsegregated initial margin - -
9 | Funded default fund contributions 12,207 266
10 | Unfunded default fund contributions - -
1 Exposur_eslof the Al as clearing member or clearing client to -
nonqualifying CCPs (total)
12 Qefault ris_k exposures to non-qua‘lifying CCPs {(excluding items - -
disclosed in rows 17 to 20}, of which:
13 | (i) OTC derivative transactions - -
14 | (iiy Exchange-traded derivative contracts - -
15 | (iii) Securities financing transactions - -
16 | (iv) Netling sets subject to valid cross-product netting agreements - -
17 { Segregated initial margin -
18 | Unsegregated initial margin - -
19 | Funded default fund contributions - -
20 | Unfunded default fund contributions - -

67



Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence bank

Unaudited Disclosure Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2024

12

13

14

Securitization exposures
There were no securitization exposures as at 31 December 2024.

Market risk

The Company has heen exempted by the HKMA under section 22{1) of the BCR from the calculation of
market risk under section 17 of the BCR for 2024.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of an adverse outcome resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes,
people, systems or from external events.

The Company’s exposure to operational risk arises from routine processing errors made by the company or
company’s third parties, as well as extraordinary incidents, such as major systems failures or legal and
regulatory matters, that could occur for the company or company's third parties.

Potential types of loss events related to internal and external operational risk include:
Execution, delivery and process management;

Business disruption and system failures;

Employment practices and workplace safety;

Clients, products and business practices;

Damage to physical assets;

Internal fraud; and

External fraud

Operational Risk, which is part of the Firm's second line of defence and reports to Firm’s chief risk officer,
has primary responsibility for developing and implementing a formalized framework for assessing, monitoring
and managing operational risk to support the Firm oversight and challenge the Firm's business with the goal
of maintaining exposure to operational risk at levels that are within the Firm's risk appetite. The Company's
framework for managing company level operational risk is consistent with, and is part of the Firm's framework.
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Interest rate risk in banking book (“IRRBB")

The Company's exposure to interest rate risk in our banking book activities arises from differences in interest
earned or paid as interest rates change, due to the reset characteristics of our assets and liabilities. The
Company's banking book is comprised of assets and liabilities that are intended to be held to maturity,
including deposits and cash placements. Changes in market interest rates on banking book assets and
liabilities can have an adverse effect on the Company's earnings and economic value.

The Company’s ALCO is the primary oversight body responsible for reviewing and managing the Company’s
IRRBB and oversees the strategic implication of risk management activity, ensuring the company's IRRBB
exposure complies with established limits, while also prudently managing to the Company’s objectives of
minimizing interest expenses. Any major hedging or risk management initiative would be approved in advance
by ALCO,

The Company evaluates the sensitivity to changes in interest rates across a range of interest rate scenarios,
including parallel rally and sell-off scenarios, as well as non-parallel scenarios using different methodologies
such as Net Interest Income (NIl) and Economic Value of Equity (EVE) sensitivity analysis. NIl sensitivity
measures the impacts of changes in rates on the accrued interest of all assets and liabilities over a defined
time horizon. EVE sensitivity measures the change in the present value of banking book assets and liabilities
as a function of different interest rate assumptions. The Company measures EVE and NIl sensitivities
periodically and assesses these against established limits. Limit breaches are escalated in accordance with
the Company's IRRBB policy.

Internal Audit is responsible for assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's overall control
environment, including [RRBB management and mitigation strategies. Internal Audit employs a risk-based
methodology to develop the audit plan.

Modeis used in the Company are validated and annually reviewed by Model Risk.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's variation in earnings and economic value based on each of the
prescribed interest rate shock scenarios in accordance with the method used in MA(BS)12A Return of Interest
Rate Risk in the Banking Book (“IRRBB return”™), are as follows:

Template IRRBB1: Quantitative information on interest rate risk in banking book

(in US$'000} AEVE ANII
Period 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
1 Parallel up 62 63 (2,151} (2,324)
2 Parallel down 9 9 2,151 2,324
3 Steepener 7 7
4 Flattener 73 74
5 Short rate up 92 93
6 Short rate down 10 10
7 Maximum* 102 103 2,151 2,324
Period 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
8 Tier 1 capital 128,663 124,517
Note:

1.

Positive values indicate losses under alternative scenarios, and the change in EVE is floored to zero
based on the standardised framework described in the IRRBB return.
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17

18

19

20

International claims
International claims are on-balance sheet exposures of counterparties based on the location of the
counterparties after taking into account any risk transfer. The risk transfers have been made if the claims
are guaranteed by a party in a geographical area which is different from that of the counterparty or if the
claims are on an overseas branch of a bank whose head office is located in another geographical area.
International claims attributable to individual countries or areas not less than 10% of the total international
claims, after recognised risk transfer, are disclosed as follows:
31 December 2024
Non-
Non-bank financial
Official financial private
Banks sector Institutions secior Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$000 Us$ooo
Developed countries:

United States 28,385 - 42 - 28,427

Canada 15,506 - - - 15,506

United Kingdom 80,532 - 5,789 - 86,321
Offshore centres:

Hong Kong 10,136 - 8,297 15 18,448
Total 134,559 - 14,128 15 148,702
Loans and advances — sector information
There were no loans and advances to customers as at 31 December 2024,

Overdue and rescheduled assets
There were no impaired, rescheduled or overdue assets as at 31 December 2024,
Mainland activities

There were no Mainland exposures to material non-bank counterparties as at 31 December 2024.
Currency risk

The currency risk arising from the Company’s operations for those individual currencies which each constitute
more than 10% of the total net positions in all foreign currencies are as follows:

31 December 2024 USD currency

UsS$000
Spot assels 147,640
Spot liabilities {155,806)
Forward purchases 17,839
Forward sales (9,119)

Net long position 554

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had no net currency position calculated on the basis of the delta-
weighted position of its options contracts.
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21

22

23

24

241

Currency risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had no foreign currency exposure arising from structural positions.
Off-balance sheet exposures (other than derivative transactions)

There are no off-balance sheet exposures (other than derivative transactions) as at 31 December 2024,
Segmental information

The profit and loss and operating assets of the Company are mainly contributed by Global Banking & Markets.
Global Banking & Markets serves our clients who come to the Firm to buy and sell financial products, raise

funding and manage risk. All of the profit and loss, assets and liabilities are managed and booked in Hong
Kong for the year ended 31 December 2024.

2024

Global Banking & Markets

US$'000

Service fee income 6,226
Total operating income 11,437
Profit before income tax 5,179
Total operating assets 187,707
Total assets 189,004
Total liabilities 59,044

There were no impairment losses, specific provision and collective provision for impaired assets for the year
ended 31 December 2024,

There were no contingent liabilities and commitments as at 31 December 2024,
Assets used as security

There were no assets used as security as at 31 December 2024.
Remuneration

The following disclosures are made in accordance with Part 3 (Disclosure on remuneration) of Supervisory
Policy Manual CG-5 “Guideline en a Sound Remuneration System” issued by the HKMA in respect of the
Company. Below are the applicable disclosures made pursuant to the requirements.

Design and implementation of the remuneration system
(a) Remuneration Programme Philosophy

Retention of talented employees is critical to executing the Firm's business strategy successfully.
Remuneration is, therefore, a key component of the costs the Firm incurs to generate revenues, similar
to the cost of goods sold or manufacturing costs in other industries.

The remuneration philosophy and the objectives of the remuneration programme for the Firm are
reflected in the Compensation Principles for The Goldman Sachs Group Inc., {"GS Group”) as posted
on the Goldman Sachs public website:
http:/hwww.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/corporate-governance/corporate-governance-
documents/compensation-principles. pdf
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24 Remuneration {continued)

241 Design and implementation of the remuneration system (continued)

(b)

{c)

Firmwide Compensation Frameworks

The Firmwide Performance Management and Incentive Compensation Framework, as amended from
time to time (“Firmwide PM-IC Framework™), formalises the variable compensation practices of GS
Group and its affiliates and consolidated subsidiaries.

The primary purpose of this Firmwide PM-IC Framework is to assist the Firm in assuring that its
variable compensation programme does not provide “covered employees” (i.e., senior executives as
well as other employees of the Firm, who, either individually or as part of a group, have the ability to
expose the Firm to material amounts of risk) with incentives to take imprudent risks and is consistent
with the safety and soundness of the Firm.

The Firmwide PM-IC Framework provides that The Goldman Sachs Group Inc. Board of Directors'
{the “Group Board") Compensation Committee (the “Board Compensation Committee")
responsibilities generally include review and/or approval of firmwide aggregate variable compensation
(discussed below) and further recognizes that certain employees of the Firm (such as those at
Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited) also may be subject to such requirements or other policies with
respect to variable compensation as may be adopted by the Firm as a result of applicable local laws,
rules or regulations or as otherwise may be determined by the Firm to be appropriate.

Remuneration Governance

The Board Compensation Committee oversess the remuneration policies and practices of the Firm
generally, as described in the Firmwide PM-IC Framework. The Remuneration Committee of the
Company (the "Remuneration Commitiee"} supplements the Board Compensation Committee's
responsibilities by overseeing the development and implementation of those remuneration policies
and practices of the Company (the “GSAB Remuneration Policies”). The responsibilities of the
committees are summarised below,

The Board Compensation Committee

The Group Board oversees the development, implementation and effectiveness of the Firm's global
remuneration practices, and it generally exercises this responsibility directly or through delegation to
the Board Compensation Committee. The Board Compensation Committee is responsible for the
review and approval of {or recommendation to the Group Board to approve) the Firm's variable
remuneration structure, including the portion to be paid as equity-based awards, all year-end equity-
based grants for eligible employees (including those employed by the Company), and the terms and
conditions of such awards.

The Group Board Compensation Committee reaffirmed the Compensation Principles and formally
documented existing commitment and practices that compensation should promote a strong risk
management and control environment into a discrete principle. This addition has been incorporated
into the updated Global Compensation Policy Statement.

The Board Compensation Committee held eleven meetings in 2024 to discuss and make
determinations regarding remuneration.
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24.1 Design and implementation of the remuneration system (continued)

(c)

Remuneration governance (continued)
The Remuneration Committee
The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee inciude:

e Assisting the Group Board in discharging its responsibility in relation to the Company's
remuneration systems.

s  Making recommendations in respect of remuneration policy and practices to the Board of
Directors of the Company to ensure that the judgment and decisions of the Board of Directors of
the Company relating to remuneration arrangements are taken independently of management
and in the best interests of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings in 2024 to discuss and make determinations
regarding the remuneration policies of the Company.

The Company Remuneration Committee approved the adoption of the Compensation Policy
Statement for use with respect to the Company empioyees on 6 January 2025,

Compensation-related Risk Assessment

The Firm’s Chief Risk Cfficer {*CRO") presented an annual compensation-related risk assessment to
the Board Compensation Committee, meeting jointly with the Risk Committee of the Group Board, to
assist the Board Compensation Committee in its assessment of the effectiveness of the Firm's
remuneration programme, and particularly, whether the programme is consistent with the principle
that variable remuneration does not encourage employees to expose the Firm to imprudent risk.

External Consultants

The Board Compensation Committee recognises the importance of using a remuneration consultant
that is appropriately qualified and is determined fo be independent. The independence of the
remuneration consultant is reviewed and confirmed annually by the Board Compensation Committee.

For 2024, the Board Compensation Committee received the advice of a remuneration consultant from
Frederic W. Cook & Co. (“FW Cook").

Global Remuneration Determination Process

The Firm's global process for setting variable remuneration (including the requirement to consider risk
and compliance issues) applies to employees of the Company in the same way as to employees in
other regions and is subject to oversight by the senior management of the Firm in the region. The Firm
uses a highly disciplined and robust process for setting variable remuneration across all regions
following the process outlined in the Firmwide PM-IC Framework.

This process involves compensation managers and compensation committees at various levels in the
firm, along with the business and business unit heads, Human Capital Management and the Firmwide
Management Committee (the Firm's most senior leaders), as appropriate.

In addition, as part of the remuneration determination process, members of the Firm's Human Capital
Management, Firm's Compliance, Risk and Internal Audit functions make arrangements for business
and business unit management to take into consideration certain compliance, risk or control matters
when determining remuneration of individuals. Before any individual remuneration decisions are
finalised, Human Capital Management and Legal review compensation recommendations to identify
discrepancies or anomalies that may appear to relate to protected characteristics.
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241 Design and implementation of the remuneration system (continued)

(d)

(e)

Link between Pay and Performance

[n 2024, annual remuneration for employees generally comprised fixed remuneration (including base
salary) and variable remuneration. The Firm's remuneration practices provide for variable
remuneration determinations to be made on a discretionary basis. Variable remuneration is based on
multiple factors and is not set as a fixed percentage of revenue or by reference to any other formula,
consistent with the process outlined in the Firmwide PM-IC Framework. Firmwide performance is a
key factor in determining variable remuneration.

The Firm is committed to aligning variable remuneration with performance across several financial
and non-financial factors. These factors include business-specific performance (as applicable), along
with the performance of the Firm and the individual, over the past year, as well as over prior years.

Performance Measurement
Firmwide performance

The following metrics are among the firmwide financial performance measures, considered in
determining amounts, although the firm does not use specific measures for targets as part of a

formula.

Net revenues;

Provision for credit losses;

Revenues net of provision for credit losses;
Compensation and benefits expense;
Non-compensation expenses;

Total operating expenses;

* Pre-tax earnings;

s Taxes;

s Net earnings;

+ Net earnings applicable to common shareholders;
» Ratio of compensation and benefits to revenues net of provision for credit losses;
¢ Pre-tax margins;

» Efficiency ratio;

» Diluted earnings per share,

» Return on average common equity;

+ Return on average tangible common equity;

s Changes in book value per common share; and

+ Standardized CET1 Ratio

"n certain cases, financial information was reviewed both including and excluding selected items and the FDIC special assessment fee, where
applicable. Selected items include those that the firm has sold or Is selling related to the narrowing of the firm's ambitions in consumer-related
activities and related to the transitioning of Asset & Weglth Management to a less capital-intensive business.
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24,1 Design and implementation of the remuneration system (continued)

()

(f)

{(9)

Performance Measurement (continued)
Business, business unit, desk performance

Additionally, at beth the business and business unit level, quantitative and /or qualitative metrics
specific such levels, respectively, are used to evaluate the performance of the business/business unit
and their respective employees.

Individual performance

Employees are evaluated annually as part of the performance review feedback process. This process
reflects input from a number of employees, including supervisors, peers and those who are junior to
the employee, regarding an array of performance measures,

Management Commiftee Assessment Framework

The Management Committee Assessment Framework, which guided the Board Compensation
Committee's process for 2024, aligns performance metrics and goals across the firm's most senior
leaders, and helps to ensure that the remuneration program for the Firmwide Management Committee
continues to be appropriately aligned with our long-term strategic objectives, stakeholder expectations
and the safety and soundness of the Firm. The Management Committee Assessment Framework is
comprised of four discrete "pillars®, each of which contains various goals and objectives: Financial,
Client, Risk Management & Controls, and People.

Since 2023, the firm has implemented a number of enhancements under the Risk Management &
Controls pillar to drive greater accountability for the quality of the firm's risk and control environment
by strengthening the link with remuneration cutcomes.

Risk Adjustment

The Firm takes rigk, including conduct risk, into account both on an ex-ante and ex-post basis when
setting the amount and form of variable remuneration for employees. As indicated in the Firmwide PM-
IC Framework, different lines of business have different risk profiles that inform remuneration
decisions. These include credit, market, liquidity, operational, reputational, legal, compliance and
conduct risks.

Guidelines are provided to assist compensation managers when exercising discretion during the
remuneration process to promote appropriate consideration of the different risks presented by the
Firm's businesses. Further, to ensure the independence of control function employees, remuneration
for those employees is not determined by individuals in revenue-producing positions but rather by the
managementi of the relevant control function.

Consistent with prior years, for 2024 certain employees receive a portion of their variable remuneration
as an equity-based award that is subject to a number of terms and conditions that could result in
forfeiture or recapture. For further details, see “Structure of Remuneration” below.

Structure of Remuneration

Fixed remuneration

The Firm has a global salary approach to ensure consistency in salary levels and to achieve an
appropriate balance between fixed and variable remuneration.
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241 Design and implementation of the remuneration system (continued)

(9)

Structure of remuneration (continued)
Variable remuneration

For employees with total remuneration and variable remuneration above specific thresholds, variable
remuneration is generally paid in a combination of cash and equity-based remuneration. In general,
the pertion paid in the form of an equity-based award increases as variable remuneration increases.

The variable remuneration programme is flexible to allow the Firm to respond to changes in market
conditions and to maintain its pay-for-performance approach. Variable remuneration is discretionary
{even if paid consistently over a period of years).

Equity-based remuneration

The Firm believes that remuneration should encourage a long-term, firmwide approach to performance
and discourage imprudent risk-taking. One way the firm achieves this approach is to pay a significant
pertion of variable remuneration in the form of equity-based remuneration that delivers over time,
changes in value according fo the price of GS Group shares of common stock and is subject to
forfeiture or recapture. This approach encourages a long-term, firmwide focus because the value of
the equity-based remuneration is realised with a dependency on long-term responsible behaviour and
the financial performance of the Firm.

The Firm imposes transfer restrictions retention requirements, and anti-hedging policies to further align
the interests of the Firm's employees with those of its shareholders. The firm's retention and transfer
restriction policies, coupled with the practice of paying senior employees a significant portion of
variable remuneration in the form of equity-based awards, leads to a considerable investment in
shares of GS Group over time.

Deferral policy: The deferred portion of fiscal year 2024 annual variable remuneration was generally
awarded in the form of Restricted Stock Units (*RSUs"). GS Group issues awards in the form of RSUs
fo the firm's employees. An RSUs is an unfunded, unsecured promise to deliver a share on a
predetermined date. RSUs awarded in respect of fiscal year 2024 generally deliver in three equal
instalments on or about each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date, assuming
the employee has satisfied the terms and conditions of the award at each such date.

Transfer restrictions: The Firm generally requires certain individuals to hold a material portion of the
shares they receive in respect of RSUs granted as part of their year-end remuneration according to
the Firm's global deferral table. These transfer restrictions apply to the lower of 50% of the shares
delivered before reduction for tax withholding, or the number of shares received after reduction for tax
withholding.

An employee generally cannot sell, exchange, transfer, assign, pledge, hedge or otherwise dispose
of any RSUs or shares that are subject to transfer restricticns.
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{g) Structure of remuneration (continued)

Equity-based remuneration (continued)

Forfeiture and Recapture Provisions: The RSUs and shares delivered thereunder in relation to
variable remuneration are subject to forfeiture or recapture if the Board Compensation Committee or
its delegate(s) determine(s) that during 2024 the employee participated (or otherwise oversaw or was
responsible for, depending con the circumstances, ancther individual's participation} in the structuring
or marketing of any product or service, or participated on behalf of the Firm or any of its clients in the
purchase or sale of any security or other property, in any case that without appropriate consideration
of the risk to the Firm or the broader financial system as a whole (for example, if the employee were
to improperly analyse risk or fail sufficiently to raise concerns about such risk) and, as a result of such
action or omission, the Board Compensation Commitiee or its delegate(s) determine(s) there has
been, or reasonably could be expected to be, a material adverse impact on the Firm, the employee’s
business unit or the broader financial system.

An employee’'s RSUs may also be forfeited, and shares delivered thereunder recaptured if the
employee engages in conduct constituting “cause” at any time before the RSUs are delivered and any
applicable transfer restrictions lapse. Cause includes, among other things, any material violation of
any Firm policy, any act or statement that negatively reflects on the Firm’s name, reputation or
business interests and any conduct detrimental to the Firm.

With respect to all of the forfeiture conditions, if the Firm determines after delivery or release of transfer
restrictions, as applicable, that an RSU or share delivered thereunder should have been forfeited or
recaptured, the Firm can require return of any shares delivered or repayment to the Firm of the fair
market value of the shares when delivered (including those withheld to pay taxes) or any other
amounts paid or delivered in respect thereof,

Hedging: The Firm's anti-hedging policy ensures employees maintain the intended exposure to the
Firm's stock performance. In particular, all employees are prohibited from hedging RSUs shares that
are subject to transfer restrictions and, to the extent applicable, retention shares. In addition, executive
officers of GS Group (as defined under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934} are prohibited from
hedging any shares that they can freely sell. Employees, cther than executive officers, may hedge
only shares that they can otherwise segll. However, no employee may enter into uncovered hedging
transactions or sell short any shares. Employees may only enter into transactions or otherwise make
investment decisions with respect to shares during applicable "window periods.”

24.2 Aggregate quantitative information on remuneration for senior management and key personnel

Senior management are persons responsible for oversight of the Company's strategy or activities and / or
those of the Company's material business lines. Key personnel are individual employees whose duties or
activities in the course of their employment involve the assumption of material risk or taking on of material
exposures on behalf of the Company.

Aggregate quantitative information on remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2024 represents the
remuneration of 5 individuals (2023: 5) who are considered as senior management and key personnel during
the year. Where the individuals have performed services to the Company as well as other affiliated companies
during the relevant period, all quantitative information disclosed below has been apportioned to reflect the
individuals' service to the Company.

Remuneration paid or awarded for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 comprised fixed remuneration
{salaries} and variable remuneration,
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24.2 Aggregate quantitative information on remuneration for senior management and key personnel
(continued)

(a) Template REM1: Remuneration awarded during financial year

Remuneration amount and quantitative information (US$'000) marf‘;zr:?nrenu
Key personnel
1 Number of employees 5
2 Total fixed remuneration B et o
3 Of which: cash-based R I 170
4 | Fixed | Of which: deferred ) “ L
5 | remuneration | Of which: shares or other share-linked instruments -
6 Of which: deferred - . 7 1 -
:f— N Of which: other forms T N -
. e S
9 Number of employees 5
S e o o
11_ N Of which: cash-based ) 159 )
2 Variable "~ Ofwhich: deferred e
13 | remuneration Of which: shares or other share-linked instruments B 80
. e e e s emmesoes s | om e s
o e S . . ]
16 Of which: deferred 7 o S .
17 Total remuneration 409
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24.2 Aggregate quantitative information on remuneration for

Remuneration (continued)

(continued)

{(b) Template REM3: Deferred remuneration

senior management and key personnel

Deferred and retained Tofal amount of | Of which: Total Total amount of | Total amount of | Total amount
remuneration (US$'000) outstanding amount of amendment amendment of deferred
deferred outstanding during the year | during the year remuneration
remuneration deferred and due to ex post due to ex post paid out in the
retained explicit implicit financial year
remuneration adjustments adjustments
exposed to ex
post explicit
and/or implicit
adjustment
1 Senior management/ Key
perscnnel
2 Cash - - - - -
3 Shares {(number of 363 363 - 363 157
.| RSUsy _
4 Cash-linked - - - - -
~ instruments
] Other - - - R -
& Total 363 363 - 363 157

{c) Special payments

No guaranteed bonuses, sign-on awards or severance payments were made fo senior management
and key personnel during the financial year,
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Climate risk management

The Firm is subject to climate risk, considered a type of business environment risk, which arises from the long
and/or short-term impacts of climate change including both transition risk and physical risk but does not
include the discrete occurrence of a natural catastrophe. Physical risk is the risk that asset values may decline
or operations may be disrupted as a result of changes in the climate, while transition risk is the risk that asset
values may decline due to changes in climate policies or changes in the economy due to decarbonization.

Physical risk impacts may arise from acute risks (e.g., event-driven damage to assets from increasing
frequency/severity of weather events, disruption to operations and supply chains) or chronic risks (e.g.,
longer-term shifts impacting resource availability such as sea-level rigk or chronic heat waves). Transition risk
impacts may arise from policy, legal, technology, and/or market changes resulting from the adaptation to a
greener economy.,

The Firm seeks to identify, manage, and where possible mitigate these risks through its climate-related and
environmental risk program and recognizes the importance of ongoing program expansion in-line with
industry best-practices and regulatory expectations. The Firm also integrates climate risk considerations into
other risk types (i.e., Credit, Market, Liquidity and Funding, Operaticnal). This environmental risk
management program includes capabilities to quantify the impact of physical and transition risks across
various time horizons through scenaric analysis. In addition, the Firm has established portfolio level
monitoring of associated risks as they continue to evolve and has incorporated climate assessments into
transaction level due diligence for select portfolios to manage climate risk associated with new Firm
commitments and investments. Climate assessments are utilized to evaluate the Firm's transition risk,
focusing on high-emitting sectors, as well as physical risk, which focuses on real estate transactions (including
investing and lending) exposed to the highest severity physical risk factors. Other important climate-related
capabilities are described in the Firm's Strategy and Risk Management sections of the Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclosures (TCFD): htips://www.goldmansachs.comfinvestor-relations/corporate-
governance/sustainability-reporting/2023-awm-tefd-report. pdf

in December 2022, the Company introduced the “Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Policy on Climate-related and
Environmentai Risk Management” ("Climate policy”), including the governance and key processes critical to
the policy, facilitating elements that support the policy, and the application of the Company's risk management
approach. This policy is subject to annual review by the Company’s Board of Directors.

Under the current activity scope and support model of the Company, there are no climate risk metrics or
limits, or non-financial risk considerations, required specifically for the Company. In the future, as the
Company enters into new activities or business strategies, the Climate policy ensures that climate risk
considerations will be incorporated by each division including revenue-producing units and departments that
are independent of the revenue-producing units during new activity, transaction or client approval processes,
and, where appropriate, Company-level risk metrics and limits will be established.
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